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Thursday, February 6, 2025
--- On commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Good morning.  My name is James Sidlofsky, and I am counsel with the Ontario Energy Board in today's proceeding.  We are here today for a virtual technical conference on the ERTH Power Corporation Inc.'s application for approval of changes to its electricity distribution rates to be effective May 1, 2025.  ERTH Power has also applied for incremental capital funding to support the purchase of property, design, construction, and furnishing of a new administrative and operational facility.

In Procedural Order No. 4, the OEB determined that, considering the nature of the ICM request and the need to clarify outstanding issues raised in interrogatory responses, a technical conference is the most appropriate next step.  The OEB has scheduled this technical conference to address and clarify ERTH Power's responses to interrogatories.

I'll say more about today's session in a moment, but I would like to begin with a land acknowledgement from our hearings advisor, Lillian Ing.
Land Acknowledgement

MS. ING:  Good morning.  I wish to acknowledge that this land on which the Ontario Energy Board operates for thousands of years it has been the traditional land of the Mississaugas of the Credit, the Anishinaabeg, the Chippewa, the Haudenosaunee, the Wendat peoples, and it is covered by treaties made with the Crown in the spirit of peace, friendship, and respect.  Today the land is still home to many Indigenous Peoples from across Turtle Island.  The OEB is committed to building relationships with Indigenous Peoples and communities, based upon mutual respect and shared values.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.
Preliminary Matters

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'll remind parties that technical conferences do not take place in front of the Panel of Commissioners who are hearing the case, but they are transcribed, and the transcript forms part of the record in this proceeding.  This session is also being broadcasted and will be on air except throughout the conference, except for breaks and those times, if any, where material that is being treated as confidential is being discussed.

As a general matter, I will remind parties that intervenor representatives seeking access to confidential material are required to execute the OEB's form of confidentiality undertaking in accordance with the Board's Practice Direction on Confidential Filings.  If we do need to deal with confidential material, we will set some time aside this afternoon and we'll close the proceeding to deal with it.  At that point, we'll move into a breakout room.  Attendance will be restricted to those who have signed the OEB's Declaration and Undertaking Related to Confidentiality, and, if ERTH Power proposes that certain individuals not have access to the in camera session, we can hear from parties at that time.  If we are dealing with confidential material, a redacted version of the transcript will be placed on the public record.

The other procedural matter I would like to remind parties of is that this is a technical conference.  It's not intended to be cross-examination on the evidence, but, rather, as the OEB stated in Procedural Order No. 4, the technical conference is being held to allow for clarification questions related to interrogatory responses.

Our hearing advisor, Lillian Ing, circulated the schedule for the technical conference after parties and OEB Staff provided time estimates.  ERTH Power has asked for about 30 minutes for a presentation on the ICM proposal and we will begin the session with that. I ask you to make your best efforts to keep to your estimated times and consider whether it will be possible to shorten those times where someone else may have covered areas in which you had similar questions.

We're planning a 15-minute break in the morning, at around 11:00, a one-hour lunch break at 12:30, and an afternoon break at 3:05, but, as always, we are going to see how the day goes.

Finally, before we go into appearances, just a few reminders and technical matters since this is a virtual setting:  First, I would ask intervenor representatives who are not asking questions to mute their audio and turn off their cameras when witnesses are being questioned by someone else.

Second, while there is a chat function available on the Zoom platform, nothing in the chat platform is recorded or will appear on the transcript, so you can send messages to each other or to the group, but they will not be transcribed.

Third, and I believe everyone may have done this already:  We ask that everyone ensure that the name they have associated with their picture right now is their full name and party so that the court reporter can accurately record what is said.

Finally, for this virtual session, we ask that you repeat your name and whom you represent, and that will assist the court reporter in transcribing this matter.  That is particularly important if you are stepping in to ask a follow-up question.
Appearances


On that note, I will introduce the members of OEB Staff who are here with me this morning, and I will then move on to appearances.  With me, are Margaret DeFazio, senior advisor, electricity distribution; Dana Wong, senior advisor, regulatory accounting; Farheen Ahmed, senior advisor, regulatory accounting; Urooj Iqbal, advisor, incentive rate-setting; David Martinello, manager for incentive rate-setting; and, as I mentioned, Lillian Ing, our hearings advisor.

I'll now take appearances, and I will follow the order in the schedule.  We'll start with Mr. Vellone and then move on to School Energy Coalition and VECC.  Mr. Vellone, I'll ask you to hold off at this point on introducing your panel.  We will get to that just before they start.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you Mr. Sidlofsky.  Good morning, everyone.  My name is John Vellone, external counsel for ERTH Power, and with me this morning is Kiran Waterhouse, who will help us navigate the digital evidence on the screen in the hopes of speeding things up.  Kiran is from Utilis Consulting.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  [Audio dropout] Vellone.  Moving on to School Energy Coalition.

MS. SCOTT:  Good morning.  Jane Scott, a consultant for the School Energy Coalition.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.  Good morning, Ms. Scott.  VECC.

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  I am Shelley Grice, consultant representing the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Is anyone also in attendance who is not scheduled to be asking questions this morning?  Hearing no one, we'll move on to the panel.  Mr. Vellone, perhaps you can introduce your witnesses.

MR. VELLONE:  Thanks, Mr. Sidlofsky.  ERTH Power is putting forward a single panel of witnesses.  Maybe to get us started, could I ask each of you to state and spell your full name for the benefit of the record and provide your titles.  Mr. White, why don't you get us started.

MR. WHITE:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  My name is Chris White.  I am the president and CEO of ERTH Power Corporation.  And the spelling of my name is C-h-r-i-s W-h-i-t-e.

MR. VELLONE:  Mr. Kent.

MR. KENT:  Robert Kent, COO ERTH Power, Robert, R-o-b-e-r-t, Kent, K-e-n-t.

MR. PETTIT:  Graig Pettit, vice-president and general manager of ERTH Power Corporation, G-r-a-i-g P-e-t-t-i-t.

MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Gooding.

MS. GOODING:  Good morning.  I'm Megan Gooding, manager of regulatory affairs at ERTH Power Corporation, and it is M-e-g-a-n G-o-o-d-i-n-g.

MR. VELLONE:  And Mr. Ott.

MR. OTT:  Brandon Ott, president of Utilis Consulting, assisting ERTH Power in this matter.  Name is spelled B-r-a-n-d-o-n O-t-t.
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MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  CVs have been distributed to all the parties prior to the technical conference and filed with the Board.  Perhaps we could get that marked as an exhibit, just in case someone wants to make reference to it in their questioning today?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure, Mr. Vellone.  We'll take that as one package, Exhibit KT1.1.
EXHIBIT KT1.1:  ERTH POWER CORP. PACKAGE OF WITNESS CVS


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much.  Prior to the technical conference, the applicants did provide a list of the witnesses as well as each of their respective areas of coverage in the evidence.  It's not our intent to go through that this morning.  I think that was included with the schedule that Lillian sent around.  So that is it.
Examination by Mr. Vellone


Mr. White, Mr. Kent, Mr. Pettit, Mr. Gooding, Mr. Ott, was the application, including all interrogatory responses and any updates to the evidence prepared by you or under your supervision?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, it was.

MR. KENT:  Yes, it was.

MR. PETTIT:  Yes, it was.

MS. GOODING:  Yes, it was.

MR. OTT:  Yes, it was.

MR. VELLONE:  And do you adopt the evidence as your own in this proceeding?

MR. WHITE:  We do.

MR. KENT:  Yes.

MR. PETTIT:  Yes, we do.

MS. GOODING:  Yes.

MR. OTT:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  And my understanding is yesterday, on February 5th, a letter was filed with the OEB, identifying corrections to the evidence.  Mr. Pettit, are you able to walk us through just briefly what those corrections are?

MR. PETTIT:  Yes.  Thank you, Mr. Vellone.  So there were three corrections that we submitted yesterday afternoon.  The first one is SEC-13.  In SEC-13, SEC had prepared a table comparing cost per square foot per of ERTH's new building to Algoma, Milton, Waterloo, and EnPower.  We wanted to point out that SEC used 5,624 square feet to be allocated for use -- that amount was the amount to be allocated for use by the LDC.  The total square footage of the entire building is 57,170 square feet, therefore changing the cost for the building from $661 per square foot to $585 per square foot.

The next update we looked at VEC-6 and SEC-6.  Both those questions were asking the question of what is the amount of rent embedded in rates and what is the amount of rent paid for by ERTH.  This amount was originally stated as $217,260, the amount from the actual settlement conference was $22,995.  This corrected amount was used as the starting point and is slated by IRM increases from 2019 to 2025.  It is the expectation that this amount would be further inflated until next re-basing by the IRM increases of the preceding years.

I would also note that the draft accounting order language for the avoided rent deferral amount would also need to be revised to reflect the IRM inflation amount until next re-basing.

Lastly also in SEC-13 we had originally -- SEC-13, we had originally filed that the incremental cost of the geothermal system was 2.5 million and that got us to the net cost of the building 29.6 million.  While this was the amount used in the benchmarking, after further conversations and understanding with our contractors and architectural firm, we are now in a position to understand that the incremental cost of the geothermal system is not, in fact, 2.5 million, it is 300,000.  There was a lot of factors that play into this.  The fact that a natural gas-fired system will require a larger sizing, additional requirements such as gas piping, venting, and combustion.

Additionally, a natural gas-based system necessitates the internal heat rejection system for cooling, typically a fluid cooler or air-cooled condenser.  The incremental cost of the geothermal system over a traditional system is the cost of the geofield, essentially.  The initial geofield was planned to be a perpendicular piping system.  However in order to save costs ERTH and its consulting firm determined that three horizontal geofields would be equally efficient and more cost-effective, thus reducing the cost estimate from 491 to 410,000.  The incremental cost of this geofield also reduced by the fact that the geofield matter allows for the associated equipment to heat the building to be sized smaller because it doesn't have to work as hard, saving money on equipment costs and structural reinforcement costs, essentially there is less weight for the building to support, and ongoing operations and maintenance costs with a more efficient system.  Given all I just noted, the incremental cost for the geo system is estimated to be $300,000, providing a zero-emission system that is four times more efficient than a conventional gas system.  Thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you very much, Mr. Pettit.

Mr. Sidlofsky, what I would suggest we mark the evidence corrections that were filed yesterday as an exhibit, just in case there is follow-up on those particular corrections.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That sounds good.  We'll make that KT1.2.
EXHIBIT KT1.2:  ERTH POWER CORP. EVIDENCE CORRECTIONS


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  Finally, I'm going to turn the floor over to Mr. White who has some remarks he would like to share.  Maybe before I do that, we did file some -- what we were calling additional evidence, but it's really just a bunch of pictures to try to illustrate the nature of the issues with the current facility.  Could I get the filing yesterday titled "Additional Evidence" marked as an exhibit, Mr. Sidlofsky, just so Mr. White can point to his pictures as he's talking.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.  KT1.3.
EXHIBIT KT1.3:  ERTH POWER CORP. ADDITIONAL EVIDENCE


MR. VELLONE:  Thank you.  And I'll turn the floor over to Mr. White.
Presentation by Mr. White


MR. WHITE:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone, and good morning, everyone.  Today I would just like to -- this morning I would just like to provide a little bit of an overview in terms of how we got to where we are today, just to give you folks a little bit better understanding of, you know, how we've drawn our conclusions that the new build is the best option for us.

So, at first of all, I would like to turn to figure 1 on page 7 of our ICM application.  If I could get that put up on the screen.  This is an illustration of our service territory today.  ERTH Power was formed back in 2000, originally as a merger of seven small LDCs back at that time.  The original shareholders were Ingersoll, the town of Aylmer, the municipality of central Elgin to the south, Norwich, southwest Oxford, Zorra, and East Zorra-Tavistock.  Those original founding shareholder utilities and communities are primarily in the central to southern region of the map shown here on display.

In 2011, we also welcomed the municipality of West Perth, which services the communities of Mitchell and Dublin, which you can see on that map, along the with the community of Central Huron, which is Clinton, just slightly north of Mitchell and Dublin and south of Goderich.  Later on in 2019 we welcomed the town of Goderich as another shareholder and a merger of West Coast Huron Energy into ERTH Power Corporation as we know it today.

So, as you can see, we are a very discontiguous service territory.  We are embedded within Hydro One service territory.  And we are 220 kilometres, as the crow flies, from the shores of Lake Erie and Port Stanley to the shores of Lake Huron and Goderich.  So it's a pretty vast service territory.

Among the original 10 utilities that have merged today, seven of them have operated as full-service utility, business and admin, and operations centres back in their time.  While the remaining three function strictly as administration and back office services and they contracted out their utility operations to third party contractors.  Today we proudly service 15 communities across four counties, through three operational centres, and we consider ourselves a regional utility.

Ingersoll is a -- which you can see is central in the map -- is a full-service business and admin centre with operations -- consolidated operations in engineering, metering, into this location over time.  Aylmer and Goderich today operate primarily as remote operation centres, with primarily just linemen, power line technicians, that operate out of those facilities.

Through 2008 and 2013, because of the many space constraints and iterations of ERTH Corporation, we also had our corporate services was located and resided in Wolfe Street in London, Ontario, which is not illustrated on this map, but we had some leased space there for a period of time.

I would like to highlight that the Ingersoll headquarters at Bell Street was the original facility of the former Ingersoll PUC prior to 2000, serving approximately 4,000 electricity and water customers within the town of Ingersoll at that time.  Today that same facility is the central business and operations hub for ERTH Power Corporation, a utility now serving more than six times the original customer base.

Over the years, ERTH Power has consolidated the businesses and administrative functions, procurement, engineering, and metering services all went to the central location located at 143 Bell Street here in Ingersoll.  In doing this, ERTH has been able to streamline its operations, which has created efficiencies to which our customers and communities have benefited.

When looking at the geography, Ingersoll is clearly the most centrally located community within our service territory, and has the added benefit of being located directly off the 401 provincial highway.  Ingersoll's location provides ERTH operations to quick, easy access to many other major roads and regional highways that allow us to service our customers well.  ERTH also views this location as a strategic advantage in attracting and retaining staff, given its location.

As noted, over the 25-year period there's been many iterations and renovations done at ERTH here at Bell Street in Ingersoll.  And I will turn your attention to figure 4 on page 12 of our ICM application, if we can get that brought up, please.  Thank you.

So you have to take yourself back in time a bit, but the current centre here in Ingersoll is located at 143 Bell Street.  It's situated on 1.8 acres of land, to which only 1.5 acres is usable.  There is a portion at the backside of that property to the south that is flood-plained; you kind of see it there on the drawing.

The facility is approaching 90 years of being in service and has undergone a number of expansions and renovations over the lifetime to keep it functioning and to maximize the prudency of its useful life.  You can see a number of those iterations shown on this map.

When you are looking at this map in figure 4, the original footprint was constructed in the 1930s, which is the most northerly portion of this building.  And to the best of our knowledge, it was an automotive service garage.  The original footprint today now occupies our administration and customer service personnel.  And that original construction of this space is a concrete slab on grade, so there is no basement.  There is no foundation.  It's a wood-stick framed construction with metal cladding exterior.

In the 1940s, to the best of our knowledge, this was a time period of when Ingersoll PUC acquired this property, and in doing so added the first addition to the original building footprint.  And that's the piece that's immediately adjacent to the front, the most northerly portion of the building.  That added space at the time and for many years provided Ingersoll PUC with necessary space for fleet parking.  Back when I was originally hired in the late 1980s, that's where we parked our bucket trucks and RBDs and pickup trucks.  That area today is now home to the operational -- operations folks, our engineering, our metering, our IT, and our server room.

Additional material, warehousing and fleet storage was added in the 1970s by the PUC.  So that was some of the further renovations and additions, the outbuildings that you are seeing in that map.  As you can see in figure 4, expansions also happened in the 1990s and the 2000s.  And today, this facility is home -- is the central home for ERTH Power Corporation.  Today, that facility lacks the ability to expand, given the site limitations.  Also, none of the building design components support any sort of long-term repurposing ability.

While the facility has served ERTH Power well, it has reached its end-of-useful life and, due to the key issues noted in our application on pages 13 and 14 of our application -- and maybe at this point I would get you to turn your attention to KT1.3, the evidence we filed last night.  There are kind of some pictures that depict some of the areas that we are speaking about.  It just provides a little bit more; pictures say a thousand words.

So the figure 1 pictures kind of represent the space limitations.  You can see that this is the outbuildings portions of our facilities.  So the buildings that are furthest to the south that we've shown earlier on, in our evidence.  You can see it's being utilized very, very well from floor to ceiling, maximizing its space with transformer storage and line materials, associated building line -- pole line construction and underground facilities.

Also, this space gets very well utilized in terms of overflow equipment, our stringing machines, our tensioning machines.  So quite often they occupy the space and we have to move things around to shut in equipment and out equipment, which creates a lot of inefficiencies.

Figure 1.1 is a picture we're not really proud of, but it is a depiction of our file storage room.  You can see there is a water heater in that facility, too.  It's just meant to illustrate that, you know, we're at full capacity.  We're trying to find spaces for things, and that's the nature of what we're dealing with.

When we talk about fleet manoeuvrability and safety, it's -- figure 2 shows the confines of the current facility here.  You're looking at the first two images.  These are images of where our bucket trucks back into and the second image is one of the -- is the front side of the outbuilding.  So there is a very confined space to which we enter the gate, have to turn the vehicle, point the vehicle to this, the outbuilding, and then back them into the facility, which you can see chews up the yard.  With the bigger trucks, and now our biggest truck is in the furthest-right bay; that is the only bay that will support that truck.  These equipment are getting bigger and -- which is further limiting our ability to manoeuvre throughout this property

When you continue on in these photos, you'll see some of the area around this building which is heavily constrained.  Obviously, we've got deliveries that come in here on a daily basis, which again further restricts our abilities to manoeuvre safely.  There is no real way to enter the back-of-the-yard facility and have a natural turnaround.  We actually have to do three-point turns with our equipment.


I would also note in the bottom two pictures here as part of this evidence, there is a natural slope.  You will see that in further pictures, which then creates a little bit of a slip-and-fall hazard, especially in icy conditions like today.

Moving down to figure 3 is just illustrating some more of the constraints with the outdoor space.  We are jamming our materials in all locations, wherever we can find space, not only within the warehouse facilities, but out in the yard to utilize the space to its maximum capabilities.  But it does present us a lot of challenges with manoeuvring efficiently throughout the yard and safety concerns for us.

When you look further down in the figure 3, so you get figure 3.1 is our pole bunkie.  It is on the furthest easterly side of the property.  And you'll notice that it is directly underneath a 27kV distribution line that services our facility.  So there are unique hazards obviously when loading poles with clearances to those overhead lines.

The picture of the RBD truck with the crew on, I guess a little bit more to the north of the property but on the east side of the building, that's a very large incline on that hill.  And obviously today, in the picture, there is no ice there, but that truck is on a fairly significant slope.  But the folks, what this is trying to illustrate is that we are utilizing every inch of space, even spaces that we find somewhat dangerous under certain circumstances, which is causing concern for us.

Scrolling down to figure 4, this is just representing the multiple electrical services in that services building -- services facility, sorry.  The picture on the left is a single-phase service, so it is a 400-amp single-phase service that primarily provides lighting and functionality to the main building.

The office in the immediate right picture, you'll see some cupboard doors on the walls there.  Behind those cupboard doors is actually the entrance for our three-phase power.  So our metering is behind those covered doors.  That power provides power for the HVAC systems on the roof.  I didn't show pictures of the outbuildings, but there are also two services, two additional services, that support power for those outbuildings, as well.

So we're trying to illustrate here that, any sort of consolidation of the power requirements for ERTH Corporation as we go forward and try to electrify our fleet, it is very limited to what we can do.  In fact, we're at capacity.  We would not be able to further electrify our fleet than what we are today.

Further down are depictions of our control room.  We've shown you pictures here.  It's a very, very modest space being utilized to its fullest.  But this control room, because of our constraints within the building, there is no physical security to this control room, which has many concerns for us.  Not only do our own staff have full access to this area; it's also serviced or it's also a joint area with our engineering team, so it provides some sound issues.  When people are communicating in a space and our control room operator is trying to communicate with our staff, we have a lot of other things that are happening in this space.  So it's kind of home of the control room/engineering folks, and, in the picture to the left, you're kind of seeing the engineering space, which is very tight and limited for our staff.  They have very limited space to work and manoeuvre around there for our engineering tech.  So we're trying to maximize the utilization of this space, but it is also creating issues for us.

Down in figure 5.2 is our metering and stations area.  It is a relatively small space.  Today, these folks get involved heavily with programming of automated devices.  Those devices cannot be done here.  They actually have to be done in some of the outbuildings, which is not really an ideal space because there is lots of other equipment that is moving around in there, there is lots of other dirt and contaminations when you're dealing with automated switches and setting up the programming.  It should ideally be done in this space, but, as you can see, this space is not conducive for that.

As we scroll down and to figure 6, these pictures just illustrate our server room.  Today, we have many issues with this room.  It's essentially a closet.  I hate to say that; it is.  You can see the small HVAC system to the right, on the wall.  That system continuously goes down, and we're getting alarms where we have to come in at night and prop open the door because it is overheating, and we're going to have to do some significant renovations to keep this space cool if we are to continue at this space.  So it's causing us a lot of concerns.

Just general maintenance and repairs down in figures 7 and 7.1.  It is just kind of showing you the facade of the building and the construction of the facility, itself.  We're trying to note here that really, this facility, it's got no ability to be repurposed.  And again, this front piece where you're seeing our logo is the original building that was built and constructed in the 1930s.  It has a lot of lipstick on this facility; it has got a lot of bubble gum holding it together.  I've been around for a number of years, and there is a lot of stuff that's buried in and hidden behind these walls that's causing us lots of concerns.  But, figure 7.1, obviously we're just showing some deterioration of the windows.  There are leaks and air gaps causing an unpleasant environment for our staff, with wind coming in and moisture coming in.  Today, pretty much every one of the staff who are inside the facilities, our inside folks, have a space heater at their desk because of the natural condition of the current state of this facility.

Further down, figure 8 is just representing the lack of inclusive amenities.  So this is a locker room for our power-line technicians primarily and some of our outside folks, showing their equipment.  There is no drying room.  You can see that little bungee cord hanging from the ceiling.  Our guys will actually take their equipment and hang it from there and try to dry out their equipment to the best of their abilities.

Further down, you're looking at figure 9.  It is just an illustration of the men's washroom and shower room and laundry facility.  This washroom to the right is one of the only washrooms.  You're not seeing the urinal.  There is one urinal to the side of it, one toilet in there.  It is the only washroom for all of our inside male staff and outside male staff, with the exception of an executive washroom which is up by the boardroom, which is intended for meeting purposes.  So, for all intents and purposes, our day-to-day staff have to use this one facility.  And I would note that we have no facilities for women in trades, as it relates to washroom facilities, locker room facilities, shower rooms, anything of that nature.

The office-space constraints are illustrated here, in figure 10 and figure 10.1.  Again, the engineering space, how confined it is, it is a narrow little alleyway to which we have three techs operating in there as well as a contract clerks person who operates in that space.  The space to the left in figure 10 is our operations space, which is literally a -- it was a storage closet underneath the stairs, and that's being utilized for our operations folks.  It's very limited to being able to pull open physical maps and so forth when they're looking at their jobs and what they have got in store for them.  It really only serves the purposes for timesheet entry and a little bit of training.

10.2 is our customer service space, again just showing that we're utilizing every nook and cranny to its fullest capacity today.

Looking at other amenities, in this figure 11 you're looking at our current lunch room.  Again, it's in the basement.  It's immediately adjacent to the locker room as well as where the fleet parks, so, quite often, there are a lot of fumes that come in from the trucks backing into the garage, and that diesel fume will spill out and flow over into this kitchen area.  The kitchen area is home to a number of rodents, as well.  I hate to say that, but it's the truth.  They naturally migrate their way in, especially in the wintertime, because they come in through the fleet garage area, and this kitchen is pretty much right adjacent to that space.

Figure 12 is kind of the garage that I noted, where the trucks back in.  Quite frankly, this is the only space that we have that we utilize for training, town hall meetings, our Christmas luncheons, and so forth, so we literally have to pull out all this equipment, try to find a space for it in the yard, sweep it all down, power wash it out, and set it up, which is a good half a day to a full day exercise in prepping it for that type of a session.

So, in moving on, I'd just like to note that, after our last merger with Goderich Hydro, to which has been viewed by another success story in creating ERTH's regional footprint that we know today, ERTH's success has, however, increased our staffing levels at our central location and is currently pushing the limits of the site to its limits, causing us numerous concerns for health and safety and well-being of our staff, as well as the public.  ERTH has considered many options to address the needs for more suitable space, looking initially at our existing facilities, however, quickly we have determined that all three current facilities have similar issues and limitations, not to mention they are not centrally located.  We then turned to looking at other options such as buying an existing facility, leasing, and finally looking at the new build options.

Buying options yielded no results that had any potential.  Properties in our catchment area primarily lack land space required for the facility or they had a facility on that space that required a complete tear down, in addition to the fact that they did not have land space, and one example of that that we looked at and explored was the old Zorra township administration office, which is just outside of the town of Ingersoll.  It was again on a parcel of land less than 2 acres, at an old facility that would require a total tear-down.  We also looked at listings, former listings, that we knew were on the market in the past five years.  One of which was a McNabb auto facility.  It was a 10-acre facility.  It had some components to it that might have made it an option, an option that we could have explored.  When investigating that further option, it's not on the market, hasn't been on the market.  It's now being utilized for a van conversion centre and there is no -- we engaged those folks and it is not -- it's not intended to be on the market in any near future.

Finally, as detailed on pages 23 to 29 of our application and looking at lease options within our ERTH catchment area, we could only find one option to assess a large warehouse located at 100 Newman Street in Ingersoll.  Although this option appeared potentially viable, further analysis determined the facility was not feasible for the following reasons:  Significant incremental capital cost to purpose-build the interior to satisfy the needs for ERTH Power; a lack of outdoor useful space for storage; and the needs for sharing the facility and parking with one or more subtenants, which would be required given the size of the facility at 120,000 square feet, resulting in operational constraints and significant safety concerns.

ERTH's decision to pursue option 3 and build a new facility is driven by a number of constraints, deficiencies, and safety concerns noted and the need to advance our organization forward, noting our company's core values in safety first.

The current facility deficiencies and constraints impact our ability to maintain safety to the highest degree for our staff and public.  A customer focus, limiting space and aging infrastructure restricts the company's ability to enhance the customer experience through innovation, responsiveness, and emergency readiness.  Operational performance excellence, space limitations and aging infrastructure are preventing ERTH from modernizing, improving operational efficiencies, and natural planning for the grid of the future.  Innovation right now, we're restricted in how we can advance technology and processes to stay ahead of the rapidly evolving energy sector.  A new facility will allow us to modernize our operations, planning for the grid of the future, electrifying our fleet, and advancing the technology requirements needed.

The sustainability of the current facility is neither environmentally nor operationally sustainable.

Our new facility will be a high-energy-efficient facility, eliminating the need for natural gas.  It will feature a 460-kilowatt rooftop photovoltaic system offsetting 75 to 80 percent of the building's total electricity consumption.  It will be a purpose-built facility, scaleable in mind to support the growing energy needs for our customers.

Our commitment in investing in this reflects the commitment of ERTH for supporting the long-term vision of ERTH, meeting our growing energy needs and expectations of our customers, attracting and retaining the workforce of the future, providing a barrier-free facility to provide opportunities for all, and showcasing environmental stewardship by lowering our carbon footprint.

Being located in Ingersoll near the 401 is an optimal location to serve our customers and communities.  Not only is a central location in our service territory when looking at figure 1 on page 7 of our ICM application, but it also gives us access to 50,000 commuters travelling eastbound and westbound every day, expanding our ability to attract and retain top talent from university and college cities such as London to the west and Waterloo to the east and increasing our competitive advantage in this increasingly tough, competitive job market.  It gives ERTH a strategic, competitive advantage.

It is also worth noting that Conestoga, its Ingersoll skills training centre, home of the Conestoga power line technician program, is located at 420 Thomas Street, literally a stone’s throw away from our new 385 Thomas Street location.  Established in 2010, ERTH has been a proud supporter of that program, and we've seen many benefits by that close relationship, not only for ERTH but the Conestoga and the industry at large.

I would also note that this proposal was presented to our shareholders, who span, obviously, the vast service territory that we illustrated in our evidence and we received unanimous support from all of those shareholders to pursue the new build at 385 Thomas Street in Ingersoll.

And with that, I would close out my comments and turn it over to Mr. Vellone or others for questions.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you, Mr. White.  It looks like we ran about 10 minutes long.  Sorry about that, Mr. Sidlofsky.  Witnesses are available for questioning.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  Just before we go into the regularly scheduled questions -- and I'm not going to pin you down on this, Ms. Scott and Ms. Grice.  If you have any immediate questions on the presentation, feel free to jump in now with them, but if you would rather leave them until your otherwise-planned questions.  Ms. Scott?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, I think I will just work them into my regular questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sure.  Ms. Grice?

MS. GRICE:  Yes.  I just have one question, and it had to do with when you talked about different leasing options and you looked very closely at one option which is 100 Newman Street?

MR. WHITE:  Correct.

MS. GRICE:  Yeah, and you mentioned that the square footage of that facility was 120,000 square feet.  And I just didn't want to wait to ask this just in case it impacts any of my questions.  But if we can just quickly turn up VECC-8, on page 3.  Yeah, so just on page 3 of that interrogatory, thank you.  Just the top one there, you've got 100 Newman Street and it says the building side is 233,619 square feet.  So I just wanted to clarify that with you now, if that -- what that's referencing?

MR. WHITE:  I'm not exactly sure, but I know the 100 Newman Street is 120,000 square feet.  I know there is a proposed, similar facility, for that area.  I suspect it could be, you know, referencing that.  It's a future building that has not been built yet.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So -- but the bottom line is it's the 120,000 square feet?

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thanks very much.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Ms. Grice.  I'm just going to check briefly with Board Staff.  I'm not sure that we have any questions at this point, if you'll just give me a moment, though.

Thank you.  I've just confirmed that we have no Staff questions specifically on the presentation at this point.

So let's move on to Ms. Scott, with questions from School Energy Coalition.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you, very much.
Examination by Ms. Scott

MS. SCOTT:  And thank you very much, Mr. White, for that presentation.  It sort of sets the stage for our questions.

I wanted to start, first of all, with SEC-2, if we could bring that up, because I just want to make sure we're all talking about the same cost, and that things haven't changed from that.  If you go down a bit?  Yes, so that table there.

So the cost at that time was $33,265,574.  Now, my first question was:  Is that still the cost?  And maybe I'll start there.  Just to confirm that that's still the cost?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, it is.

MS. SCOTT:  So the update that was provided in -- for SEC-13, about the cost of the conventional building -- and maybe I didn't quite understand where that leaves us then, because my original understanding was that I should subtract $4 million from that number shown in SEC-2.

What should I be changing to get the cost of a conventional building, now, with that update in SEC-13?

MR. PETTIT:  Thank you, Ms. Scott.  It's Graig Pettit from ERTH.  What you should be removing would be the $1.5 million in the solar and $300,000 for the incremental for the geofield.

MS. SCOTT:  So $1.5 million for the solar and the $300K for the -- related to the heat pumps.  Okay.  So it's not changing the cost of the heat pump.

Did the cost -- the going from the vertical to horizontal tubes is not changing the cost of the actual heat pump system?

MR. PETTIT:  That was already completed prior to the total of the $33 million.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. PETTIT:  So that was already embedded in that amount.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So take off $1.8 million, then, for -- if I want to look at a conventional building.  Okay.  Thank you.

So the amount that's in SEC-2 -- so my understanding is that we don't have an ICM model or bill impacts for that amount at this time; is that correct?

MR. PETTIT:  That's correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Was the plan to file that?  And maybe I'll just ask, just because we're still working then with the bill impacts that are in the application is maybe I can ask for an undertaking of an ICM model and the bill impacts based on this updated cost.

MR. OTT:  We can undertake to provide that, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry to interrupt here, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  No, sorry, Jamie.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'll make that undertaking JT1.1.
UNDERTAKING JT1.1:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED ICM MODEL AND UPDATED BILL IMPACTS BASED ON UPDATED COSTS


MS. SCOTT:  And now I'm going to move to SEC-1 and refer to some of the attachments.  I don't know that they all have to be put up.  Maybe we can just wait and see if they want to be put up -- if somebody wants them up.

And starting at the beginning, attachment 1, which was the September 2022 strategic retreat:  And out of that came the proposal, as I understand it, to develop a business plan in 2023 for a new facility, for an LDC hub, and continue to explore property-location options for said facility.

So I'm just interested in what led up to that.  I understand you have sort of outlined the deficiencies of the existing buildings, but was a report prepared for the board's strategic retreat?  Was any analysis done about possible solutions?  How did you come to that decision at the strategic retreat?

MR. PETTIT:  I'll turn that one over to Chris.  Mr. White?

MR. WHITE:  Yes.  Thank you, Ms. Scott.  Yeah, there was a report -- we did walk them through a presentation of the current facilities that's been noted throughout our evidence here, but it was primarily a deficiency and a requirements and a needs assessment of the current facility.

And I think the Board has a strong understanding of the facility that we currently reside in and the limitations that it faces.  So we primarily focused on a location where we would locate the new facility and the rationale that supported that.  And we started to hone in on initial cost estimates and what that would -- you know, what that would mean for the ratepayers of ERTH Corporation.  So that was a primary focus at that retreat.

And from those discussions, that led us into let's create the business plan and look at it further.

MS. SCOTT:  So at that point, had the decision been taken to consolidate the two properties into one and sort of -- I am just trying to get at what had been decided at that point, for instance, the decision that ERTH Power would own it and that ERTH Corp. would pay rent.  At that point, had that decision been made?

MR. WHITE:  Not at that point, no.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  But the decision had been made that one facility was what you were looking for?

MR. WHITE:  This wasn't the definitive -- it wasn't definitively made at that point.  Again, the business plan had to be created, and then from there we would make that determination.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And -- well, we'll get to the business plan.  When you refer to the business plan, you are referring to the Utilis report, are you?

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And we'll get to that, because it comes a bit later, I guess.

So you said there was some talk about the cost and the impact, the bill impacts.  Is there some document that would outline that for -- that would show where that was outlined?  I mean, maybe this -- if we could get a copy of the presentation that was made?

MR. PETTIT:  Perhaps we could caucus and talk that through for a minute.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. WHITE:  We can undertake to provide you with that presentation, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.  Jamei?  Sorry, Mr. --


MR. SIDLOFSKY: Yes, we'll make that JT1.2.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Okay.  So then --

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Just for the -- sorry, sorry to interrupt.  Just for the benefit of the reporter, could you describe exactly what you are going to be providing, Mr. White?

MR. WHITE:  We'll have to look back to that strategic meeting, but I believe it's a PowerPoint presentation, so a high-level kind of review of -- I think at the time we were looking at properties, as well, so it probably had that in there.  I'm trying to go back into the memory bank, but I believe that's what it will have, and I believe we did some high-level assumptions on bill impacts, too.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So would it be fair to describe that as a PowerPoint presentation with a review of properties and bill impacts?

MR. WHITE:  I believe so.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks.  And that's just for the purpose of listing the undertakings in the transcript.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT1.2:  TO FILE THE POWERPOINT PRESENTATION WITH A REVIEW OF PROPERTIES AND BILL IMPACTS

MS. SCOTT:  Thanks, and so, going through the SEC-1 and its attachment 2, which is where my understanding is the board of directors accepted the action plan and, as part of that, there had already been a piece of property that was considered but not recommended.  So had you engaged a real estate professional at this point, to look for properties for you?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, we did.

MS. SCOTT:  Oh, you did.  Okay.

MR. WHITE:  And we also, we also had our feelers out to our municipal partners, business development folks who know the area well and look at -- know it, know where vacant land exists and may potentially be coming onto the market.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So then, I guess the next step in this process was a February 2023 board meeting, where I guess you had identified a piece of property and you brought that forward for approval if the due diligence works out.  I guess that was brought to the board, and then the next step was to bring it to the shareholders in 2023.

If we look at that information that was brought to the shareholders in March of 2023, that was the attachment 9, if I'm correct, and, at that point, it was still confirmed that a business case needed to be completed.  I don't know if we need to bring it up, but, in section D of that attachment 9, it talks about bringing forward the new facility and putting it into rate base in 2028.  So, at that point, you were not considering an ICM, is my understanding?

MR. WHITE:  No, that's not correct.  We intended it to be in service prior to that.  We just knew that it would fall into rate base in our rate basing period in 2028.  We knew we would have to through an ICM process.

MS. SCOTT:  Oh, okay.  It just wasn't -- okay.  So the bill impacts that were given there, the 225, were based on another estimate of what this building was going to be -- because, obviously, those are not the bill impacts that are being presented now, so what were those bill impacts based on at that point?

MR. WHITE:  Those were probably high-level estimates of the facility at that point in time.

MS. SCOTT:  And, at this point, had the decision then been made that there would be -- that it would be owned by ERTH Power and part of it rented out to Corp.?

MR. WHITE:  Still no final decision on that, but that was the path we were heading down, for sure.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And my understanding is that the next step in the process was to hire PAL Engineering, if that's correct?

MR. WHITE:  Well, there would have been a next step in terms of getting Utilis involved in creating the business plan.

MS. SCOTT:  Oh, is -- okay.  Their plan didn't come out -- okay, maybe -- their plan didn't come out until November of that year, but they were on board at that point.  Okay, that's fine.

MR. WHITE:  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  But, hiring PAL, when was it that PAL was hired, and how were they chosen?

MR. WHITE:  I'm trying to remember the date when we finally made that decision; back in 2023, I believe.  That decision was made through some consultations with some different folks.  One of our shareholders, West Perth, had just recently gone through a facility reconstruction, new build I guess, and they had leveraged NelsonDaly, who is noted in our evidence, as the consultant that they used.  And Mr. Brick, who was the CAO at the time for West Perth, offered up a meeting with ourselves and Nelson to kind of understand the process better.  Obviously, this was something new for us.  We hadn't gone through it before.  We just wanted to get a high-level understanding of the mechanics of how the process worked.

So, that meeting, in that meeting it was talked about the debate between hiring an engineering firm or hiring an architectural firm and how there are benefits to hiring a firm that has both capabilities.  And the reason those benefits exist is that, you know, it's one thing to design a building architecturally appropriately, but a lot of the times the engineering requirements in behind that facade don't all add up.  So it's always a better scenario to work collectively with an engineering and architectural firm, was what was relayed to us by Mr. Daly.

During those conversations, there were discussions around folks in the industry and firms that would potentially be able to do this.  And the one that came up was POW Engineering.  POW Engineering is a local firm, located in the town of Ingersoll, so that resonated with us.  We at the time did not know them personally, but we had -- there are lots of examples where they were reviewed in high regard within the community, itself.  So that caused us to meet with POW Engineering, based on Mr. Daly saying that would be a great firm to work with.  So, based on that, that set up for the introductions with POW at that point in time.

And then, through the interview process with POW, obviously we talked about facilities they had done in the past.  We had a better understanding of their capabilities.  We had a good understanding of the fact that they actually have both the engineering side of the house and the architectural side of the house, which everybody agreed would yield some benefits to the project, the overall project.  And then it was up to them to put forward a proposal to us that we would review.

MS. SCOTT:  And that was based on ERTH Power Inc. -- or Corporation -- I don't know -- specifications.  Is there -- I mean, we have the list of specifications in the application, but what was actually given to POW Engineering?

Was it that list, or was it something more?

MR. WHITE:  We gave them a fairly detailed list of requirements.  We also leveraged the building guides of Ontario in terms of sizing of office space for the FTEs.  But, in that detailed list of requirements, you know, that was through a pretty lengthy consultation on our part in terms of site visits.  I think we did nine site visits, seven of which were utilities, two of which were some of our municipal shareholders and their operations facilities and some of their business facilities that they've done.  The other 7 were utility facilities, to which we went there as our team and took detailed notes on, you know, all the requirements of some of those facilities.  We got measurements of some of the areas and spaces.  We looked at the amenities, control room, training rooms, the fleet warehousing, the warehousing.  And that consultation over a 4- to 5-month period at the time kind of yielded the requirements document.

And, again, the office sizing and space sizing was kind of through Ontario best practices and the guidelines there that kind of sized the appropriate spaces accordingly.  So we fed that information to POW Engineering once we agreed to engage with them.  And we also kind of gave them a little bit of a schematical drawing of, you know, how we envisioned, logistically, the warehouse interacting -- the storage warehouse interacting with the fleet warehouse, to give them a little bit of a starting point, I guess to say.  And I was quite surprised at how well that yielded a first draft.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So, would it be possible to get the list of specifications or the information that was given to POW Engineering?

MR. WHITE:  Absolutely.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We'll make that JT1.3.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT1.3:  TO FILE THE SPECIFICATIONS INFORMATION PROVIDED TO POW ENGINEERING


MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And so, then POW came back with our specifications, which we have, I think, in attachment 12 has a list of the POW Engineering properties of the building that they, I guess, designed for you.  So, what was the process after that in terms of -- that was a starting point.  What was the process in terms of getting to the final design after that?

MR. WHITE:  Many meetings over approximately a 12-month period of time.  Back and forth on very intimate details of the facility.  To --


MS. SCOTT:  Just a second, before I -- was there a price tag on that original design?

MR. WHITE:  I think there was cost estimates in and around that time.  I'd have to look back in the records, but I believe we had a general idea that we were pushing around $20 million at that point in time.

MS. SCOTT:  I mean, if you could undertake to look and see if they -- if there was an actual cost estimate provided by POW Engineering at that time for the original design that they came back for, that would be useful.

MR. WHITE:  Yeah, I know that throughout the process we did seek to get a class C and class B estimates.  Is that what you'd like to see, Ms. Scott?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, it's more of the -- I'm more interested in was there an iterative process -- and I think in one of the IRs you refer to an iterative process.  But what was done to say, you know, are there -- could there be changes to the core requirements to reduce the cost, that sort of thing, what was looked at and what effect that could have or did have on the final cost?

MR. WHITE:  Yes.  That -- that did occur over the course of that period of time in those meetings that we had.  Obviously, you know, prices, like anything, you start to understand the impacts.  So we were looking at different options to scale back the facility.  And we can certainly  -- I can provide you with a bit of a list of some of the things that we actually did scale back on, if that's helpful for you today.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, please.  Yes.

MR. WHITE:  So, some of the conversations which were noted in our meetings with POW was a couple of things.  Initially, it was looking at the site requirements itself and, you know, 7 acres versus 6 acres.  And we felt that by building a two-storey office admin portion, that would reduce the land-size requirements by about an acre, which then translated into us securing the 6 acres.  Two-storey office and admin buildings is traditionally a more cost-effective approach than trying to spread it over one floor, the size requirements.  So we took that approach, scaled back the land requirement to 6 acres.  That saved us $1 million there.

We certainly, right from the onset, with POW Engineering and Alan Evis, the architects, noted the fact that, you know, this was not to be a Taj Mahal facility.  This was to be a practical facility that would meet our needs for the next 60, 70 years, be practically and functionally suitable.  You know, obviously, have an appearance to it.  We don't want to build something that's ugly, but we were also respectful of the fact that we wanted to build something very cost-effective.  So we went with natural contours of the facility, so it's a very square building.  It's not rounded in any way and doesn't have multiple jogs and so forth which all adds up to increased costs when you start to do things like that.

Also, thereupon the discussions there was conversations about making it third-storey ready.  So if in the future we ever wanted to expand, do we want to design the facility to accommodate a third floor.  We chose not to do that out of prudence.  We felt that there was a little bit of green space -- I think that's noted in our evidence -- that could support an addition at, you know, some future point in time of about 4,500 square feet, that's across two storeys in one corner of the current facility.  So that had no incremental cost bearing on the facility today.  That would be a future cost if it were ever needed or warranted, but it also reduced the initial costs by not creating it, not building a third-storey-ready building.

We looked at the options or we asked the question -- I shouldn't say we looked at the options.  But we did ask the question about a pre-cast design, where some of -- instead of conventional block wall systems, could you put pre-cast designs, does that make it more cost-effective?  The answer we got was no.  Not only is it more expensive, it is less energy efficient.  So, the sealing -- the seal between conventional way of building it is much tighter than putting a pre-cast system, which may be built structurally quicker, but it's more expensive and less energy efficient.  So we chose not to go that route.

There was discussions about designing the facility itself to a -- and I apologize, I don't -- I'm not an engineer; I don't know the technical terms, but some sort of wind standard that would sustain a natural event like tornado event, which requires structurally increasing all the structural requirements of the facility.  We noted to them that this is not intended to be a community gathering centre, that there are other facilities within the town.  So we did not see the prudency in overdesigning the facility to that standard, so we did not proceed with that.

The fleet warehouse in the existing space was reviewed.  We modelled our fleet warehouse somewhat off the model that Waterloo did in their facility.  And they had some unique design features where there was kind of this elevated sidewalk, I guess, about a nine-inch elevated sidewalk around the facility for the staff to walk on as approaching to the trucks.  We had retained that on the northern side of the fleet area, but we deleted it on the south side of that fleet storage/fleet garage area, which allowed us to reduce the structural size of that area of the building from 120 feet wide down to 110 feet wide, obviously adding additional savings there.

I would say there was only one area that we did discuss that actually had a slight cost increase, and that was support columns within the fleet garage, versus full-span trusses.  You know, the design could have been -- costs could have been reduced by $50,000 if we had have put support-beam columns in, instead of going with a full truss system across the 110 square feet -- 110-foot width.

We did not feel that $50,000 was -- or we felt that spending the extra $50,000 was a prudent exercise to eliminate the risk of trucks running into these columns.  Obviously, there is lots of truck movement, and so we felt that was a prudent decision in terms of spending $50,000 to do that, and that's noted.

We did choose in the fleet area again, I would focus on that, as a two-door option; so one door in, one door out, and then you back into the parking spots, versus multiple doors.

We removed a raised floor proposal in the server room.  Sometimes there is a lot of the wiring and so forth that can go out to the bottom floors by putting in a raised floor.  We chose to remove that and just use channels up into the ceiling and use the ceiling space to disperse the -- all the CAT5 and CAT6 IT cablings.

We put in a smaller elevator, a more prudent elevator that's slower; it doesn't require a larger, thicker concrete base for that elevator, by just going with this modest type of elevator.

We removed an industrial stove from the kitchen facility or the lunchroom facility, which would have required us to put in an industrial-style hood fan in with all the current codes today.  So we took that out.

Our generator sizing, we talked about the generator sizing, the back-up generator, whether it needed to support a hundred percent of the facility or not.  We reduced that, to size it to 75 percent of the facility.  So the facility, although it will support all the lighting and technical requirements of the facility, it will not support heating and cooling in the fleet garage and warehouse area.  We felt that under a power outage system -- a sustained power outage, that ERTH would have the ability to restore power within 24 hours, and felt that it wouldn't impact those spaces materially in terms of their heating and cooling requirements.  So we chose to size the generator accordingly.

As my colleague, Graig Pettit, noted earlier on the geofield, which I just would make one slight correction in terms of the carrying costs; I think the carrying costs for that field were $490,000.  That was based on the vertical or perpendicular boring of wells.  We went with a horizontal field that reduced, further reduced the costs by about $90,000.  So that carrying cost now is $410,000, and that has been tendered out and has been completed.  So we do know the actual cost of that; it's not $490,000, it's $410,000.

And that was a prudent -- not only a cost prudency, but it was also a risk factor in looking at the -- drilling 24 wells, 600 feet deep, who knows what you are going to run into, and all the associated risks with that.  I don't know, maybe we would have struck oil.  That might have been a good; I am not sure.  But, anyway, we have seen that as being -- going horizontal would be less risky for us, and so we chose that.

And again, I just note that, you know, in our contract requirements, the various materials and finishes, we struck a balance between -- an optimal balance between cost-effectiveness, durability, low maintenance, and locally sourced construction materials that were friendly to the trades in the area that know how to use them.  And we felt that would be a more efficient approach, and it met our requirements.  So we took a modest approach in all those finishes.

MS. SCOTT:  Let me, just to wrap that up, because one of the things in SEC-8B it does say is that your evaluation of the new-build option identified the least expensive optimum design.  So that was after all of these changes had been made, but how did you determine that that was the most cost-effective design at that time?

MR. WHITE:  I'm not sure I understand the question:  How we determined that it was the most cost-effective design?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  Did you do any, you know, what if we take -- if we don't get the -- for example, what if we don't have the space where all of us can meet?  Instead, we say we're going to do that in some other location.  What would that do to the cost, things like that, making those kinds of considerations?

MR. WHITE:  Yeah.  No, we did not do a cost-benefit analysis on each and every element that you are referring to.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  We noticed that, and I think they are in probably the Utilis report, that there were external renderings of the new building.  Were there any internal renderings done for the new -- by POW Engineering, from POW Engineering?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, there was.  They are the same ones that are put forth in our evidence.

MS. SCOTT:  Do we have the -- okay.  I don't remember seeing those.  Maybe somebody can point me to them, if that's possible.

MR. WHITE:  I believe they are in the Utilis business plan, if I'm not mistaken.

MS. SCOTT:  I'll have a look.  I mean, I can have a look at lunch or something and, if I don't find them, I will come back on that point.

If we can talk about the Utilis business plan and, maybe just going back to my question which I'm going to keep asking is when -- so at this point, when was it decided -- had it been decided that ERTH Power was going to own the building and rent out part of it to ERTH Corp.?

MR. WHITE:  That was decided when we presented the business plan that Utilis assisted us with, to the Board.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Okay, so I'll wait till we get to that.

So what specifically was Utilis hired to do?  If I could ask that question.

MR. OTT:  Ms. Scott, our engagement really was to -- or if I can express my understanding of it, our engagement really was to assist ERTH Power in pulling together all of the analysis that they had been doing.  You know, we heard from Mr. White, all of these various components that they thought through.  We have heard, I think again largely from Mr. White, that, you know -- the options they looked at, the available options that were out there.

And so our task for ERTH Power was to really help them document all of that work that they had done to assess the -- sort of the needs and challenges that they have today that would drive them to make a decision, and then ultimately to document the options that they looked at in making that decision.

So really, it's an exercise in helping them to kind of document the good work that they had done to that point.

MS. SCOTT:  And there were three options in the -- one being status quo, one being renting the one property.  So there was no analysis done about -- that we could see how having two properties or -- and my understanding is that's -- analysis is based -- because you talk about the rent, your analysis for the option 3, was that ERTH Power own it, so there was no option about a different type of ownership that was looked at.

MR. OTT:  The three options analyzed in the business case is status quo, wherein ERTH Power remains at Bell Street in Aylmer at their current capacities.  The leasing of a facility, we chose to look at only one facility, as Mr. White articulated earlier.  They were provided with information on other facilities, but there really was only one -- I think we've used the word "technically viable" facility, which was the 100 Newman Street property.  So we looked at that as a leasing option.  And the third option of course was the new build that is the subject of this application.  So those were the three included in the options analysis in that business case.

MS. SCOTT:  And the chosen option was the optimum solution among those three options, then?

MR. OTT:  Those were the three looked at in the business case, and it was identified that the most cost-effective solution, not necessarily least-cost solution, is the new build facility that is the subject of this application.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Thank you.  Well, I will come back to the attachment 12 in the business plan in just a minute, but I just want to finish off with:  So, at that point, the cost was $28.5 million and the bill impacts were related to that 28.5.  And then, when it went to the February 2024 shareholders for approval, it was still based on the 28.5 and the related bill impacts.  I mean, at that time, they were told 11- to 13.8 percent distribution impact for residential, and that's what it was approved based on, if I'm understanding correctly, in February of 2024, attachment 6.  That's what I was looking at.

MR. VELLONE:  Is it possible to pull that up just so we're all looking at the same thing?  Attachment number 6 you said?

MS. SCOTT:  Well, Attachment 6 referred to the Utilis business plan, and the Utilis business plan numbers had the...

MR. VELLONE:  I see.  You're piecing a couple of things together?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  It may also be in here, but -- because I just did those, refer to the Utilis business plan.  If someone can just scroll down a little bit, maybe we'll see that -- no, keep scrolling to see if you see any.  Building design, yes.  Keep going.  Yes, so it's talking about the full cost of the building construction is $22.2, and that was after the land had been purchased for whatever that was, 5-something, 6-something.

MR. PETTIT:  Jane, can I get you to clarify your question for us?

MS. SCOTT:  I just want to confirm that that is what was the numbers that were given to all the shareholders when they did the February 2024 approval, was the numbers out of the Utilis business plan.  It was still the $28.5 from attachment 12, and the bill impacts were still at the 11 to 13.8...

MR. PETTIT:  So I do see that in the Utilis business plan, and that was what was presented.  I would note that, at that time -- I might not get my As, Bs, and Cs correct, but -- it was the class C estimate, and the final version was, when we sent it out to tender, that was the final result.  So we're still working off estimates at that point.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.  And that wasn't -- so the increased price to 33, at that time it was 33.5?  Was not ever -- and the new 17 percent bill impact was not presented to the shareholders at any point in time?

MR. WHITE:  I would have to look back at the presentation, Ms. Scott.  I believe we had the estimated costs, but I think we were still working through the financing component of that and the carrying costs.  I think we made some assumptions in our presentations, but I'm pretty confident that the numbers were above this, in the $30 million range, subject to the final RFP document, which we presented to the shareholders at that time.  And I would also just note that shareholders delegated the final approval to the board after that meeting.

MS. SCOTT:  So maybe if you could just, if we could have an undertaking just to confirm what was presented and approved at that shareholders meeting, that would be helpful.

MR. PETTIT:  And then, Jane, I guess I would also note that the total bill impacts from the business plan presented to the board were 3.21 and 4, and we ended up at 5.  So from a total --


MS. SCOTT:  Yeah.

MR. PETTIT: -- [audio dropout] point of view, there is not as significant a change as you're noting.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, I guess, yes, total bill, yes.  We were just looking at distribution impacts, so yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If ERTH is prepared to give the undertaking now, it will be JT1.4.
UNDERTAKING JT1.4:  TO CONFIRM FIGURES FOR TOTAL PRICE AND BILL IMPACTS PRESENTED TO ERTH SHAREHOLDERS FOR THEIR 2024 APPROVAL.


MS. SCOTT:  Do you understand what it is?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If you can give a pithy description of it, that would be great.

MS. SCOTT:  The total price and the bill impacts that were presented to the shareholders for their February 2024 approval.

Jamie, I'm just going to move on to a slightly different area if you...

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Why don't we take our morning break, then.  It's just coming up on 11:10.  Why don't we come back at 11:25.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:09 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:26 a.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Welcome back, everyone.  We are going to continue with Ms. Scott.  Does anyone have any preliminary matters before we go back to the questions?

MS. SCOTT:  I was going to say that I did -- and maybe while I'm talking someone can put up attachment 12 from SEC-1 and I will be looking at page 32, but I also looked through attachment 12 and I didn't see any interior renderings of the new facility.  So if ERTH has any of those, if we could have an undertaking to provide them if there are some?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, Ms. Scott.  My apologies.  It was my misunderstanding.  I thought you were talking about the exterior renderings of the building, but we do have some interior renderings, yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Let's make that undertaking JT1.5, then.
UNDERTAKING JT1.5:  TO FILE, IF AVAILABLE, ANY INTERNAL RENDERINGS FOR THE NEW FACILITY.


MR. SIDLOFSKY:  And, Ms. Scott, you've got the microphone.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.  So, I just wanted to ask some questions about the cost-benefit analysis that was done by Utilis which is on the screen now.  So, my understanding is in option 1 the do nothing one -- well, first of all, the assumption was made or the cost to bring the buildings up to standards was not included in this analysis?

MR. OTT:  That's correct, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  And the OM&A that is included there -- because my understanding from other responses to IRs, for example, I think Staff-6Ai, which we don't need to pull up, but you had not forecasted the costs and we also don't know what the costs are, as the OM&A costs as the baseline for the deferral account or the variance account.  So, I'm not sure where these OM&A costs came from?

MR. OTT:  Yeah.  So, you're correct in referencing interrogatories where that was expressed and that's certainly accurate with respect to the new build.  So, our intention with respect to the cost-benefit analysis presented here comparing the three options was to try and hold the analysis effectively neutral for the unknown O&M costs of the new build.  So the do nothing O&M costs were sort of escalated up to the year 2025 based on what we do know about the Bell Street and Aylmer facilities, so that yielded the 382, 465 and obviously we have rent presented separately.

One of the reasons we had to go down this road is obviously one of the big changes with option 3, new build, is the elimination of significant amounts of rent, so we felt it very important to reflect that.  So, we needed a placeholder for O&M despite the fact we didn't have a detailed forecast for the O&M for a building at this time in 2023, we wouldn't have those forecasts for.  So we effectively retained the O&M that we had for the Bell Street and Aylmer facilities, simply to have a value there for O&M.  That said, unlike the new facility we do have a sense for what the O&M is -- my apologies for the court reporter.  The operations and maintenance expenditures are for the Aylmer facility.  And part of the option 2 and option 3 is the reduced use of the Aylmer facility.  So there was some assumption built in there of some reduced O&M resulting from the sort of reduced use of the Aylmer facility.  And you can see obviously the rent that remains in option 3 is this 50,000 which is a forecast of sort of half the rent of Aylmer relative to what it is today.

MS. SCOTT:  So, I'll just confirm that -- and obviously it is because you have got the capital in there
-- that this is based on the assumption that ERTH Power owns the building and rents out to the affiliates?

MR. OTT:  That is an assumption underpinning this analysis, correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Can you explain the PILs to me, the savings of 400K.  Like, when I look back to the ERTH's 2018 approved revenue requirement, there is 32,894K approved PILs in the existing revenue requirement.  So, I just am not quite sure how the 402 -- I know it's because of the -- I think it's because of the accelerated CCA, but maybe someone can explain it a bit better of how it would be a savings going forward?

MR. OTT:  I was going to -- I think much like Mr. Pettit.  The 402 you're referencing -- I'm sorry, it is in this table as well, it's in a few tables.  So, I can say a few things on that, and Mr. Kent may want to expand on it, and so I'll leave that room for him.  So, on a sort of conceptual rate-making level, the ICM model incorporates obviously depreciation expense NCCA.  And unlike a cost-of-service PILs calculation, the ICM model can yield a negative PILs value.  And so, at the time that this was completed, we left that in there.  Obviously we have a different proposal in the application with respect to the preservation of undepreciated capital cost and using that in the future in the 2028 cost service, which, again, we can discuss.  But at the time of this cost-benefit analysis, those negative PILs values, grossed-up PILs values, remained on the page in the analysis.

In terms of the quantum, one of the driving factors that changed from completion of the business case to present day is the receipt of more detailed tax advice.  So at the time that we completed this this business case, we hadn't had the opportunity with technical specifications in hand and a more advanced set of, you know, more componentized budgets to sit with the tax experts that ERTH Power consults with.  And so, we had drawn assumptions with respect to particularly the geothermal and solar systems, which we understood are subject to some favourable capital cost allowance rates.  In actual fact, when those technical specifications and more componentization of the budget -- those systems was available and ERTH Power consulted with its tax experts, there weren't as many savings there as we had previously believed.  So one part of that is the tax advice that ERTH Power has received is such that it is not that the entirety of the geothermal system would be expected to be subject to the favourable CCA rate, which I believe is class 43.2 of 30 percent.  It is actually only a subset of that system that would be subject to that favourable rate.  So that was one impact that sort of changed from this business case to the application.

And at the time, we also believed that some of the green energy elements would actually be subject to a 50 percent CCA rate, a very high CCA rate.  And on, you know, more detailed consultation with ERTH Power's tax experts, that proved not to be the case.  So that was sort of a fairly broad set of changes to the CCA and ultimately anticipated PILs impact under the business case versus the application that was ultimately filed in the fall of 2024.

And, Mr. Kent, if you wanted to add anything to that, I do want to leave that room for you.  But if you don't feel it's necessary, it's up to you.

MR. KENT:  No, you captured it well.  The base of it is still is -- it's legislation is changing and that tax expert but based on our tax consultants, what Brandon said, accurately reflects what we've been told.

MS. SCOTT:  So -- and that's reflected in what's put in the application; is that what I'm hearing?

MR. OTT:  Correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  The only -- the other thing that I didn't see reflected in this was the 190K in leasehold improvements, the fact that they would be written off in my understanding.  So that's not included in the cost-benefit analysis, either?

MR. PETTIT:  That's correct, Ms. Scott.  And we will be writing those amounts off, but we didn't actually factor this into the application to be recovered from ratepayers.

MR. KENT:  And if --


MS. SCOTT:  Your proposal is they would not be recovered?  That would not be recovered from ratepayers?

MR. PETTIT:  Correct.

MS. SCOTT:  In terms of the statement at the bottom that:
"It is reasonable to conclude that Option 3 also provides the highest value for the ratepayers."

Were the benefits of the new facility, Option 3, valued?  Like, normally, a cost benefit looks at the cost and the value of the benefits.  And I am not sure I see where that was done.

MR. OTT:  Yeah.  Ms. Scott, I would certainly agree where benefits can be credibly quantified, we would expect to see a quantified value associated with them in a cost-benefit analysis.

However, I think we can all appreciate that it is often not the case that the benefits in play can be readily and credibly quantified.  And certainly, the OEB's recently released benefit-cost analysis framework acknowledges this.  There are some benefits that are important but realistically cannot be quantified.

And if we look at the evidence underpinning this application, really the evidence underpinning the need that ERTH Power has, we didn't see an ability to readily quantify those benefits.  You know, certainly those that we could, like reduced rent, we have incorporated in here.

But when we are talking about need that's underpinned by items like, you know, the basic safety of staff working in the yard, I think the evidence notes there was a near miss associated with the loading and unloading of distribution poles.  We saw the pictures that Mr. White showed us earlier of that area, which is really a high-traffic area and not ideal for storage of those kinds of assets.  We didn't feel that we could credibly put a dollar value on the potential of a critical safety incident for staff.

We similarly didn't think there was much value in trying to put, you know, some convoluted calculation together to calculate the efficiency of, say, not needing to move around materials in order to get to the appropriate materials that are located in a crowded yard or in a crowded storage warehouse.

As we looked at the needs that ERTH Power identified for us, you know, we didn't see much opportunity to capture those as benefits and, as such, the cost-benefit analysis, though including some benefits like reduced rent, you know, more reflects what the OEB's benefit-cost analysis framework would apply to a non-discretionary investment wherein it's been identified that something has to be done, and now the analysis is really focused on what is the most cost-effective option to meet that need.

And so that's how we looked at this, is the evidence as presented in the application and subsequently in interrogatories is there to substantiate and provide the OEB all the information it requires on the need.  And once that need is established, it becomes a question of what the most cost-effective option is, you know, regardless of whether you are able to assign a financial value to a long list of benefits that really do not lend themselves to that kind of quantification.

MS. SCOTT:  So it's really a -- that statement is sort of a qualitative-judgment statement?

MR. OTT:  I think in the context of the need being established for a decision to be made here, and these being the options available to be considered, this analysis would indicate the most cost-effective option for ratepayers is Option 3, if that answers your question.  My apologies, if I misunderstood.

MS. SCOTT:  No.  Okay.  Moving to a slightly different area, the size of the facility:  So my understanding, the land, we're going from -- I don't have a specific IR at this point, but we are going from 1.8 acres and 2.4 acres or 4.2 acres to 0.9 plus 6.0, or 6.9 acres, if I can -- is that correct?

MR. PETTIT:  It seems about right, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And one of the new facility specifications was larger land footprint acreage to allow for office expansion arising from future growth.  And I think Mr. White mentioned that at one time maybe there was more acres that could have been bought, but the decision was made not to.  But you did buy the six acres for expansion arising from future growth.  And I think somewhere it says you could add 4,000 square feet to the building.

So I guess my question is how much of the six acres is for future growth and what type of growth are we talking about?

MR. WHITE:  The growth that we are talking about is really unexpected growth, like, something that we have not forecasted in, in the next 50 years.  But the added space for that site, that site can only accommodate the 4,200 square feet, and that's over a two-storey build.  So the actual square footage of land is approximately 2,100 square feet.  So we're talking like a little, a minimum sliver of green-space grass that can be built on, under the current site plan.

MS. SCOTT:  But maybe I am not understanding.  For what you've got, decided on now in terms of the building and the room for your vehicles to circulate and things, what would have been the minimum size acreage you could have lived with?

MR. WHITE:  We would -- I'm not sure what the -- the actual acreage in our opinion is the appropriate size.  I mean, I don't think you could scale it back any less because what happens is is the width of the property -- you're not going to change the depth of the property, but the width of the property would be shrunk/reduced, which would limit our ability to allow the truck flow around to the back of the fleet facility.

So, in our estimation, this can't be reduced any further than what we already did.  We took it down from seven acres to six acres.

MR. PETTIT:  And maybe, Ms. Scott --


MS. SCOTT:  Please...

MR. PETTIT:  -- if it's helpful, we could move to figure 6 of the ICM application, and we could show you kind of the small piece of land that is reserved for future development.  It's page 19 of 45 --


MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. PETTIT:  -- of the ICM application.

MR. WHITE:  Yeah.  So if you zoom in there, and you'll see there is a little green space kind of directly -- this isn't the proper orientation, but I'll look due north, I guess; it's actually an easterly orientation.  But if you're looking to the top, you will see the little indent where the trucks actually -- the loading dock goes in.  And there are some trees planted along here.

This is a little space, a sliver of land, where we could potentially add on square footage; that would be 2,200 square feet times two, because it's two storey.  That's all we could add on to this site.  It's all the site will accommodate.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. WHITE:  It's just a small sliver.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.  And just to go back, when you talk about growth, is it growth of the -- is it -- some places you talk about amalgamation.  Is it other services that you might be providing?  I'm just trying to get a -- what kind of growth do you -- are you anticipating?

MR. WHITE:  We're anticipating natural growth in terms of customer base, potentially services to support the customer needs of the future.  I mean "electrification" is a big word.  I don't know that anybody has a true, full understanding of all of that, but there is a small allocation of space for future growth.

MS. SCOTT:  But what I understand is that's either or both the utility or the affiliates.

MR. WHITE:  No, not at all.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. WHITE:  No, that's strictly the utility.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay, so the growth is for utility?

MR. WHITE:  Yes.  Our facility -- our affiliate businesses operate in separate facilities across southwestern Ontario.

MS. SCOTT:  Not all of them, though.  Some are -- the part that is renting will be renting.  The holding company and the Corp. are in the same facility?

MR. WHITE:  Correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.

MR. WHITE:  The corporate services and IT functions, those are the two, which is a corporate service, the IT piece.

MS. SCOTT:  I mean, they may grow to service not only the utility but also your other affiliates.  That would be an option; am I not correct?

MR. WHITE:  They may grow, but I would suspect that that growth would happen at their current residencies.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Can we look at, pull up, staff 10, please, and looking at the responses to -- if you can go down, yes -- (a) and (b).  And I'm trying to get a handle on how many FTEs are going to be situated in this new facility versus how much room there is available in the new facility, so -- and I understand there that the total of 38 plus 16 is 44.  That will be, on day one, moving into the new facility; is that correct?

MR. PETTIT:  Ms. Scott, I think we left out the two CDM staff that will potentially, depending on the IESO funding, be hired.  So those two added on would be 46 staff in the building.

MS. SCOTT:  Oh, I thought they were -- I thought -- and that was my next question because I had SEC-5D.  There is currently a total of 35 existing plus three new ERTH Power FTEs, and that included the two CDMs, getting up to the 38, so...

MR. PETTIT:  My apologies.  Yes, you are correct, so, yes, I think --


MS. SCOTT:  Yes, and I will get to those two CDM people because I have not.  So, assuming this is the number of people moving in if you hire those three people, then part (b) says "The new facility can accommodate” -- and, of that 44, 34 are office people and 10 are outside:
"The new facility can accommodate 57 inside staff and 20 outside staff.  ERTH Power expects 100 utilization of the available inside office space when the new facility is placed into service."

And maybe I'm understanding a hundred percent utilization differently, but, in my mind, 34 over 57 is not a hundred percent utilization and 10 over 20 is not a hundred percent utilization.  So maybe someone can explain that to me.

MR. OTT:  Sorry, Ms. Scott, can we just -- I want to make sure we're understanding your numbers of reference here.  I don't see 34 here, and --


MS. SCOTT:  Well --


MR. OTT:  -- I've heard you --


MS. SCOTT:  -- for office --


MR. OTT:  -- reference 44 --


MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  For office employees, ERTH Power would have, um, sorry, 28 -- sorry, plus, plus I'm assuming the corporate -- and 34 was not the correct number; 28 plus eight, right, plus another eight, they're all office employees.  Correct?

MR. OTT:  Thank you, Ms. Scott.  That helps.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And --


MR. PETTIT:  We ask [audio dropout] --


MS. SCOTT:  I'm sorry.  Yes?

MR. PETTIT:  Yes.  So I understand your question, but, from our perspective, the full use of the building will be taken, will have approximately one empty office and five empty cubicles at the end of the day.  There is potential to add seven more cubicles, which was included in that original number.  So, noting that, we're probably 90 percent, from your calculation.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, the seven and -- adding the -- so...

MR. PETTIT:  So there is potential to add seven cubicles by making it tighter.  We included the tighter configuration off the get-go.  It's not actually ideal to have those seven extra, but we could have that capacity in the future if required.

MS. SCOTT:  So you're saying there is only room for one more inside staff person.  And what about outside staff?

MR. PETTIT:  So there is one vacant office and five cubicles that are, that will be, available when we take occupancy.

MS. SCOTT:  But you could fit in this many people, is what you're saying?

MR. PETTIT:  Correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  Now, going to -- and I don't know if we need to show it up, but the -- and you mentioned the -- maybe this explains it -- the IESO.  So the -- if you -- the two CDM positions that you're talking about, can you explain to me how they're funded and what part, which company they would be a part of?

MR. PETTIT:  They would become employees of ERTH Power Corporation as they would be providing services for ERTH Power's customers.  So the new DSM program that's currently being worked on with the IESO and industry, there will be funding available for ERTH Power to hire those employees --


MS. SCOTT:  Okay --


MR. PETTIT:  -- and provide --


MS. SCOTT:  -- and that has -- when is that supposed to happen?

MR. PETTIT:  I think it's still in the process.  So that obviously would not happen unless the program goes forward and funding is available.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay, so funding from the IESO.  Okay.  Thank you.

If we could, go back to SEC-2.  And I just had some questions about the contract that was awarded for the new building.  Just scroll down to the next page please, yes.  Okay.  So the total contract is the $23,254,500, and my understanding is that includes the 750 contingency?

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.

MS. SCOTT:  And how does the contingency work?

Like, whose approval does it need?

How is it -- how does that happen, that that money gets spent?

MR. WHITE:  Ultimately, the buck stops with me, being the CEO, but it is a little bit of an iterative process.  So, depending on what kind of change orders come forward, they could be coming from the field folks who are constructing the facility, that they note something that has been not incorporated into the original design.  That would flow through to POW Engineering to review their assessment of that, and then, once they review that assessment, they would authorize that the general price, that requirement into a change order request.  It goes back to POW to review to make sure the pricing actually supports what's being done.  They'll review it from a technical perspective and a per-piece type of perspective, and then, ultimately, that flows down to me.  Obviously, subject to the materiality of the ask or the change order, we would do a thorough review and sign off on that.

Once we sign off on it and give the okay and then the general contractor has to also sign off on it, guaranteeing that's the additional cost or credit.

MS. SCOTT:  So I guess I should have asked first, is this -- is it a fixed price for the design?

MR. WHITE:  It is a fixed price for the contract, yes, it is.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So any change order would be a change to the design?

MR. WHITE:  In some cases, yes.

MS. SCOTT:  In other cases, it would be -- what, for example?

MR. WHITE:  Most of it is all design related and structural related.  There is some conversations through the process to which we've seen a $300 credit, as an example, but they were able to relocate the drain and that actually provided a benefit for us in the loading dock area.  So it's a little bit a give and take.  Again, they do all best efforts to design these things perfectly, but as it all comes together there is, you know, pieces that sometimes get missed or incorrectly engineered and they need to change things.

MS. SCOTT:  And this estimate was considered what class?

MR. WHITE:  This is the class B estimate, that's the further, detailed estimate, yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So this is class B.  And the cash allowance of the $3,304,000 --


MR. WHITE:  Sorry, Ms. Scott, just one correction, actually.  That -- actually, 33 million or those costs are -- the 23 million you referenced, that's as a result of the RFP process.

MS. SCOTT:  Right, yeah.

MR. WHITE:  So there was a --


MS. SCOTT:  Based on a -- sorry, go ahead.

MR. WHITE:  On a competitive responses to the process.  I believe there was the final price came in $100,000 less than our class B estimate.

MS. SCOTT:  Oh, okay.  Yeah.  Sorry, so the cash allowance, the additional cash allowance, is that included in the 23,254?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, it is, the $3,356,000 cash allowances?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.

MR. WHITE:  They are included in that bid price, yes, they were carried.

MS. SCOTT:  And what -- I don't understand that.  What is that?

MR. WHITE:  There are a number of items.  I will try to highlight a couple of them as an example.  The solar voltaic system was not put out in the original tender, it was estimated costs at $1.2 million.  The rationale for that is technology keeps improving and costs keep coming down.  So we thought it was better appropriate to tender it out later on through the process, which is starting to happen as we speak.

Another example is the geofield.  So they carried a cost of 461 if I'm reading that correctly or 491 -- sorry, it's small print -- that actually came in at 410, and that was a little bit of a result of the vertical versus the horizontal.

And then you get into, like, some more final finishing type things that are carried as cash allowances like the signage, the exterior signage on the building.  Obviously, it's got to be our logo and so forth and we'll use the firm that we typically use to do that.  So they've got allowances in for stuff like that and things like window treatments and so forth, that kind of comes in after the fact.  So that's what those cash allowances carry.

MS. SCOTT:  So the constructor has put those in as sort of placeholders.  And who carries out the bidding process for all of that?  Is that done by the builder or will you be doing that?

MR. WHITE:  It's still done by the -- POW Engineering.

MS. SCOTT:  Oh, it's done by POW -- okay, because they handled this RFP process?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, that's correct.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So they're going to do that.  So, okay.  All right.

MS. GRICE:  Jane?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, go ahead, Shelley.

MS. GRICE:  So, I'm just trying to follow along with the 3.34 million.  Can you just tell me where in the budget above under part (a), where is that 3.34 million?  I've just lost track of it in my own mind now.  Is it under the building costs, is it included in that --


MR. KENT:  Yes, that's correct.  It's included in the total building costs.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So the contractor that was awarded the contract had that 3.34 million in their bid?

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  Thank you.

MR. WHITE:  Along with the contingency of 750,000.

MS. GRICE:  All right, okay.

MS. SCOTT:  But it has been earmarked for certain things.  There was a reference in 14(d) -- no, sorry, Staff 14 that you had Power Advisory do a sort of study of what grants were available.  Is that report on the record?

MR. WHITE:  I'll let Rob Kent speak to that, but I do not believe that is on the record.  We're still working with them to finalize that and look at any sort of funding vehicles that we may find.

MS. SCOTT:  Can we get a copy of that on the record or what is available now?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, I don't see why not.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We'll make that undertaking JT1.6.
UNDERTAKING JT1.6:  TO FILE THE POWER ADVISORY STUDY.


MS. SCOTT:  Do you have -- I mean, the IR talked about a number of different areas that were possibilities.  Do you have an estimate of what possibly might be available for grants?

MR. KENT:  Yeah.  Currently we don't have any funding anticipated.  At this point, we're unable to estimate the amount of external funding.  We have not yet submitted any applications.  We have been working with Power Advisory looking at all the federal and provincial funding sources, such as the smart renewable electrification pathways, green municipal funds.  We're working with those agencies, but we haven't filed any applications yet.

MS. SCOTT:  And you -- I mean, you don't even have a -- do you have a magnitude or a -- would it just be for the solar and the geofield or are there other areas that it would maybe apply to?

MR. KENT:  I know that we looked at some charge of funding as well.  So I don't have exact --


MS. SCOTT:  Okay, yeah.

MR. KENT:  We did apply for some charging funding earlier on with the ZEVIP, but we weren't eligible for that funding.  So we are actively working to see what we can -- what we can harvest.

MR. WHITE:  Yeah, just to further on the Enercan funding, a facility actually has to be in service to apply for business EV charging infrastructure, so we didn't qualify initially.  We have put in applications in the past for some of our areas.  And we intend -- if it opens up again, we'll certainly strive to get some funding for the EV charging.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  If we can talk about the benchmarking, and I recognize that one of the updates to the IRs that you corrected my square footage, but maybe we can go to that, SEC-12 and 13.  Start with SEC-12, please, and if you scroll down.

This is where we asked about the -- how the other examples for benchmarking, how they were adjusted.  And you did show us the -- how the index was calculated, but what I couldn't see is how the index was applied, like follow one of them through.  And so, maybe if you -- and maybe you want to take this as an undertaking, but take one of the properties that you use as a benchmarking, whichever one you want, and show the calculation of how you escalated it, to compare it in 2025 dollars?

MR. OTT:  We can undertake to provide that, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. OTT:  For the benefit of the transcript, I understand that to be take one of the tier facilities, and sort of explicitly demonstrate the application of this kind of custom index --


MS. SCOTT:  Yes, yes.

MR. OTT:  -- to those costs, to yield 2025 costs.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, if you could.  Yes.

MR. OTT:  Yeah, we can provide that.

MS. SCOTT:  And just --


MR. OTT:  Sorry, we will mark, I guess we will mark that.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Sorry, Ms. Scott, was that about the undertaking?  Or are you moving on?

MS. SCOTT:  No, I was going to move on, but if you -- sorry, give that a number, that would be great.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So we will give that a number, JT1.7.
UNDERTAKING JT1.7:  WITH REFERENCE TO THE PROPERTIES SHOWN IN SEC 12, TO SHOW THE BENCHMARKING CALCULATION AND HOW IT WAS ESCALATED; AND TO COMPARE IT IN 2025 DOLLARS

MS. SCOTT:  And if we can go down to -- well, it's actually in the update now, the update to 13, SEC-13.  And I don't know that you need to bring it up, but it might be -- actually, you might be able to just go down to 13 here, and we can look at it here.  Slow down, slow down, slow down.  Yes, keep going.  It's the one where you show the breakout of the square footage, and so that I -- keep going, down.  I don't know.  Now maybe it's in --


MS. GRICE:  Jane, I think it's SEC-12.

MS. SCOTT:  It is in 12?  Okay, sorry.  Thank you, Shelley.  I appreciate that.  Let's do this slowly.  Keep going up, I guess -- there.  Okay, yes.

And I recognize that I did use the total square footage for the utility because I -- and one of the questions I had was what is the non-utility, and I think what you are telling me is the non-utility is the space that is used for the affiliates?

MR. PETTIT:  That would be correct, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  All right.

So maybe I can ask this as an undertaking, just so that we all -- because I know you said that changes the number for the -- on our table, for the cost per square footage.  But, with the update in the conventional facility cost and using this now $57,170, if you could just provide your interpretation of cost per square footage for the four comparators, for the proposed ERTH Power and for the conventional?

MR. PETTIT:  So, if I heard you right, you are looking at -- you are not looking for us to provide an updated cost per square foot, without -- with a conventional heating system with the total square footage of the building.  Is that correct, Jane?

MS. SCOTT:  Yes.  Yes, but yeah, just put it all on one table, with the updated cost of the new facility as well, because we -- that was updated, too, by the approximate -- came down about approximately $200K.  Right?

MR. PETTIT:  Yeah.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.8.
UNDERTAKING JT1.8:  TO PROVIDE AN UPDATED COST PER SQUARE FOOT WITH A CONVENTIONAL HEATING SYSTEM, ALL IN ONE TABLE; TO PROVIDE A COMMENT ON THE DECISION IN EB-2014-0086 WITH RESPECT TO NON-UTILITY SQUARE FOOTAGE AND NON-UTILITY COSTS, AND WHETHER THAT WILL RESULT IN ADJUSTMENTS TO THE INNPOWER ENTRY IN THE TABLE.

MS. GRICE:  Sorry, this is Shelley.  I just want to jump in again.  Just so -- I want to make sure I understand the update that you provided.  And I think the best way would be if we could also look at page 29 of the application?  Thank you.

So when I look at this benchmarking table here, it seems to me if you look at footnote 8 that the square footage excludes square footage reserved for affiliates or other non-utility use.  So when I went down the list and compare it to the response in SEC-12, it looks like InnPower has 5,630 square feet for affiliates or non-utility use, and ERTH Power has 6,546.

So the square footage in this table, in my understanding then, that flows through.  So now that you are updating to 57,170, the total square footage for InnPower isn't increasing to 41,802.

So just to keep it apples to apples, I am just wondering why that change was made?

MR. OTT:  Yes.  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  So a few things:  the benchmarking presented in this area of the evidence, as you know, it covers a number of areas.  And on the balance of those areas, kind of looking at the regulated utility we felt was the appropriate view.

However, in SEC-13 -- really in the interrogatory as opposed to the response, there was a sort of pure dollar per square foot prepared.  And, in that context, we thought well, this actually isn't quite appropriate because it's -- the dollars in question apply to the whole building and not just the regulated entity dedicated space.  So that was the reason for that adjustment.

On the InnPower case -- so we've got an undertaking, as I understand it already, to make an update here, JT1.8.  I think we can commit to look at this.

The reason I hedge a little bit on that update and want to look at it as opposed to commit to a specific outcome is it is my recollection that as part of the OEB's approval in InnPower's case, EB-2014-0086, they actually wrote down the approved capital expenditures explicitly for the portions of the building that were not dedicated to the regulated entity.

So, in all cases here, we have presented the OEB-approved capex and not the sort of proposed capex for each of these buildings.  With InnPower being the only one that has non-affiliate space, but potentially having the dollars associated with that affiliate space already being removed from the total in front of us, I want to make sure we understand that before, you know, right here and now, kind of committing to an update to include those square feet, because it is my recollection, but very much subject to check, that they had explicit capital expenditures removed from the building cost associated with those specific square feet, in which case I believe the appropriate comparator would be what we have, which is approved capex, and the regulated-entity square feet.

So if you are okay with that as an outcome for this undertaking, we can commit to look at that and certainly confirm that understanding is correct.  But to the degree it is, I think we would be of the view that sort of the record as it stands is the appropriate one.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  No, that's fine.  I didn't realize that.  I didn't have that understanding.  Thank you.

MR. OTT:  We will make the check and, to the degree that's an incorrect understanding, we'll -- you know, we'll note all of this in the undertaking.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  That's interesting.

So all of the other ones on that table 5, the total square feet is the cost for a utility building.  There's no affiliate room in that, is what you're saying, Brandon?

MR. OTT:  As I understand it, none of Algoma, Milton or Waterloo -- or Waterloo North, had sort of dedicated space to any other entity.  InnPower did have a dedicated area that they were planning to maintain.

MS. SCOTT:  But the cost has been hived off, so the square footage could be hived off?

MR. OTT:  Subject to the check in JT1.8, that is my understanding and recollection, is that one of the specific adjustments in the Board's decision related to that space.

MS. SCOTT:  Do we know what portion of the $33 million, now 2-something, is dedicated to the utility versus the utility and the affiliate for ERTH?

MR. PETTIT:  Ms. Scott, I might defer to Chris, Mr. White, on that, this question, but I think it would be very challenging to parse out the cost to construct based on those square feet versus others.

Can you maybe comment, Mr. White?

MR. WHITE:  We certainly haven't done that calculation.  No.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  I will note, Ms. Scott, that we have proposed a DBA to try to capture that rent back for ratepayers in this process.  So, although the request is to pay for those square feet, there is also a DBA that is intended to protect you.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  I'm sorry to interrupt, Ms. Scott.  But, panel, the exchange that you had with Ms. Grice about an undertaking, that was related to what's now the existing undertaking JT1.8; correct?  There was no new undertaking being offered there.  Am I right about that?

MR. OTT:  Correct.  We have agreed that, within JT1.8, we will provide, sort of report back, if I can put it that way, on the OEB's decision in EB-2014-0086 and what that decision rendered with respect to non-utility square footage and non-utility costs, and, depending on what we're able to report back on there, we either will or will not make adjustments to the InnPower entry in the tables discussed for JT1.8.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thanks very much for that.

MS. SCOTT:  Jamie, I'm just going to move on to my last area.  I don't know if you want me to barrel through or -- I'm going to save you some time here, but...

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  It sounds like that will save some time.  How long do you think you're going to be?

MS. SCOTT:  Maybe another half-hour.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Then why don't we take our -- well, maybe I'll ask Mr. Vellone and the panel.  I'd be fine with taking our lunch break now, coming back in an hour, and that will give Ms. Scott her whole half-hour.  But, Mr. Vellone, any thoughts?

MR. VELLONE:  I'm going to defer to the folks in the room.  I know they usually probably try to grab lunch.  Is this time okay for you?  It sounds like an appropriate time to break so that Jane doesn't get interrupted halfway through kind of a continuous line of thinking.

MR. WHITE:  I think we're fine either way.

MR. VELLONE:  We'll take the break now, Mr. Sidlofsky.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Let's take the break now.  It's just shy of 12:20.  Let's come back at 1:20, and then we can finish off with Ms. Scott.  Thanks, everybody.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:18 p.m.
--- On resuming at 1:20 p.m.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We'll go back to Ms. Scott for continued questions.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.  I just wanted to return to the discussion we had before lunch on SEC-12D, if we could get that up again.  It was the table that showed the breakout of the square footage.  In this breakout for ERTH Power, how were spaces allocated between utility and non-utility space?

MR. OTT:  So, for the purpose of driving these figures to underpin the benchmarking, Ms. Scott, the shared spaces were allocated on a pro-rated basis, based on the sort of dedicated square foot of regulated versus unregulated businesses.

MS. SCOTT:  So, do you have those numbers or could they be provided?

MR. OTT:  Yes, we could provide via undertaking that breakdown of how shared spaces were allocated.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  We'll make that JT1.9.
UNDERTAKING JT1.9:  WITH REFERENCE TO SEC-12D, TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN OF SHARED-SPACE SQUARE FOOTAGE ALLOCATION, FOR REGULATED VERSUS UNREGULATED BUSINESSES.


MR. VELLONE:  Ms. Scott, I don't know if it's just me, but I'm getting a lot static from your microphone.  I don't know if you have something resting on top of it or --


MS. SCOTT:  Let me try it without the microphone.  How does that work?

MR. VELLONE:  Something might have changed.  Try again.

MS. SCOTT:  How does that work?

MR. VELLONE:  Way better, thank you.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  We'll do it this way.  Okay.  Can we move on to -- and I guess talking about the savings, the potential savings as a result of the new facility and ERTH's proposal with the variance accounts and the deferral account.  So it seems that at some point the decision has been made that ERTH Power is going to own the building and we're going to rent out a certain amount of space to ERTH Corp. and ERTH Holdings.  So I guess I'll return, probably for the last time, to that question:  Was there any analysis done about the advantages or disadvantages of that being the configuration, as opposed to maintaining the current structure of ERTH Corp. owning the building?

MR. WHITE:  No, there was no additional analysis done on that, from that perspective.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So it was recognized that you would save the rent that you currently pay -- ERTH Power would currently save the power that you pay to ERTH Corp., but that ERTH Corp. would start paying rent, but it appears we still don't know how much that rent would be.  Is that still the situation?

MR. PETTIT:  Ms. Scott, we have done that analysis.  I do believe we have a number for you now, and I can turn it over to Mr. Kent and he will walk you through that.

MR. KENT:  Thank you.  So, based on the assumption that there are 16 affiliate staff that will be residing in the new facility, we're looking at 11 in offices, 12 by 12, so 11 offices, 1,584 square feet, five staff in cubicles, the cubicles are seven by seven, so that's 294 square feet for a total of 1,878 square feet.  Then, based on our research of the local area, a rental comparator is $19 a square foot.  We also looked at then what would be a common area charge and we've seen anywhere from $3 to $6.  So we went to a $6 common area charge for a total rental rate of $25 per square foot, which derives $46,950 a year in rent.

We then compared that to the fully allocated costs and that $25 per square foot was greater than the fully allocated costs.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  What is the arrangement with the renting by ERTH Corp.?  And is that a permanent arrangement?  What is the agreement between the two companies?

MR. PETTIT:  I would think it would be an arrangement as long as Corp. needs the facility and I don't -- we don't have an agreement yet in place.  The intention would be to have one, but they would be there as long as they need to be and as long as ERTH Power can accommodate them.

MS. SCOTT:  Could they -- if, I mean -- Mr. White referred to another facility somewhere else.  Could they make the decision to pick up and leave and go there?

MR. WHITE:  We would not make that decision.  No, we will keep Corp. at Power.  The only reason we would look at changing that decision would be if the staff complement for ERTH Power stand-alone became so great that we would have no other choice than to look at other alternatives.  But our full intention is that that location will be the home for the corporate services.

MS. SCOTT:  For the OM&A costs, and I think we have already had a bit of a discussion about the fact that you're not sure what the effect is going to be, was a cost-benefit study done on putting the solar in and/or putting the geofield in now?

MR. PETTIT:  We do have some information on that, and I will turn that over to Mr. Kent to walk you through that.

MR. KENT:  We do have the payback period for the solar.  So the $1.5 million solar offsets about $110,004 worth of energy each year and a simple payback was just about 13 and a half years.  We didn't do a similar analysis on the geo.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  But that doesn't tell us what comparing total energy costs from current to new facility?  We don't have that information?

MR. KENT:  Well, estimated wouldn't be a whole lot different than the combined facility, working on the assumption that the solar's offsetting 80 percent of the load, grossed up that by the 20 percent to figure out what the excess usage is to come out with about a $30,000 electricity bill, where currently the two facilities are about $29,000.  So we didn't see it as being different, net difference, after the solar.

MS. SCOTT:  But the -- not having to use the natural gas anymore, that could -- that would be a savings?

MR. KENT:  Correct.  That would be accounted for in that O&A variance account.  There would be no more building repair and maintenance, no more gas costs, no more lease hold improvements.  So there was a number of gains that were going back to the customer.

MS. SCOTT:  And as I mentioned, do -- have we got now the baseline for that OM&A variance account?

MR. KENT:  Yes, I think we have a fairly good estimate.  The largest outstanding item is the property taxes which we've estimated and we've been trying to ascertain a better number with impact.

MS. SCOTT:  Sorry, this is the property taxes for the new building?

MR. KENT:  Yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  But when I say the baseline is what is built into rates -- currently built into rates for OM&A except for the rate in 2025 -- I mean, and then obviously that gets escalated over the IRM years, but in 2025?

MR. KENT:  Yeah.  So, from a base what's in the current properties, we couldn't go back to do the cost-of-service approach because we didn't have as granular detail.  So we went back to do a three-year average from 2022, 2023, to 2024, we thought a three-year average was appropriate.  Actually, sorry, 2022 costs were a bit higher.  So the all-in costs excluding rent for those combined years is roughly $306,000 a year.

MS. SCOTT:  Can you provide that -- those numbers?  And is it broken down into the various categories?

MR. KENT:  Yes, that -- it's broken down similar to the -- where there is a Staff question, and we have it broken down between building, cleaning, courier, insurance, property taxes, and such.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.  Can we get that in an undertaking to see how that was calculated?

MR. KENT:  Yes.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.10.
UNDERTAKING JT1.10:  TO PROVIDE A BREAKDOWN FOR THE BASELINE O&M VARIANCE ACCOUNT SHOWING BUILDING, CLEANING, COURIER, INSURANCE AND PROPERTY TAX COSTS

MS. SCOTT:  Just let me look here.  You did ask for a symmetrical OM&A cost variance account.  Can you explain why, if the OM&A costs go up, you feel that should be the responsibility of the ratepayers until you rebase?

MR. KENT:  Well, I think the purpose of it was to ensure that the ratepayer was only paying for actual costs incurred.  So, since the building costs embedded in the rates differ from actual costs, it will track that actual variance, just to ensuring that the customers are neither overcharged or undercharged.

MS. SCOTT:  I guess it's the -- it's why would you -- I mean, if the OM&A costs are higher, isn't that something that should be absorbed under an IRM year?

MR. KENT:  So I guess I looked at it in totality up to three variance accounts that we are proposing.  It was to the net benefit to the ratepayer.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.  But we don't really know, do we?  I mean, I can see the rent one, definitely, because we've got the numbers.  But for the OM&A variance account, you are saying by asking for it to be symmetrical, you are saying that the OM&A costs could be higher?

MR. KENT:  Potentially.

MS. SCOTT:  In the analysis of the benefits of the new facility, there were a number of places where a qualitative statement was made about this new facility will therefore save -- for instance, one of them is Staff 8A:  reduce paid travel time to complete these projects by staging at Aylmer property.

How do you -- first of all, have you made any effort to quantify that and how would you see that being captured in this variance account?

MR. PETTIT:  Yes.  Let us, give us a quick moment to have a chat on that, Ms. Scott.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay, thank you.

[Witness panel confers]

MR. PETTIT:  So I guess, Ms. Scott, in answer to your question, we didn't quantify it.  And we did a reasonable effort in terms of all the changes in terms of all the pushes and pulls with respect to going to this new building.  And given that it's not a rebasing, we didn't want to go down every single rabbit hole in terms of what are the incremental costs and potential savings at every turn.

We started off this process of truly identifying the big one, which was we knew the rent, and focused on that.

MS. SCOTT:  I see.  So there was another one which, in the application, stated that:
"ERTH Corporate employees will operate out of the new facility and provide services to ERTH Power, amongst other entities.  Reduces ERTH Power's FTEs and allows it to operate at a lower cost."

And then Staff 9 came back and said, no, no, that's not the case.  So I guess my question is how was that supposed to work and what changed?

MR. PETTIT:  Thank you, Ms. Scott.  So, for that, that was more of a characterization of ERTH Corporation and ERTH Power's structure, and how we were structured from the very beginning of us becoming an OBCA company.  And what it is essentially is if ERTH Power were standalone, we would need a CEO, we would need a CFO, we would need corporate services.  Because of our affiliate structure, we only pay a portion of those costs.  So those staff already do a portion of the work for ERTH, and already have oversight of ERTH Power Corporation, the regulated entity.  There is savings that we achieve from that.  They are already embedded into our current structure.

And I think we just confused the issue when we talked about it in terms of the staff coming here.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So there is no additional savings because they are in this new facility?

MR. PETTIT:  No additional savings, nor expenses.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  What about the -- in SEC-14, the reduction of fleet.  Is that still anticipated?  And when we asked how that would be fed back to the customer, the answer was it would be passed to customers through the ESM.

If you could explain exactly how that was going to work?

MR. PETTIT:  So, yes, Ms. Scott, it is still anticipated.  We do anticipate reducing our fleet by one large vehicle.  That fleet would be increased by another smaller service-type vehicle, and we would see rationalization on a couple of pickup trucks.

The reality is that doesn't happen immediately.  That will happen over time, and I think generally speaking that would just be flowed through to the ratepayer in our next rebasing.

Between now and then, if we exceed our ROE by 300 basis points, we would propose to share that with the customer.

MS. SCOTT:  Right.  But, logically speaking, it would probably wait until the next cost of service?

MR. PETTIT:  Yes, I would think so.

MS. SCOTT:  Yes, right.  And the next cost of service is in 2028, if I -- is that correct?

MR. PETTIT:  Correct, yeah.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And that is ERTH's intention to come in for cost of service in 2028?

MR. PETTIT:  Yes, it is.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  I think -- just let me check.  I think that's all I have at the moment, but I reserve maybe my 10 minutes or -- to maybe use in the future, if that's okay?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  We will then move on to --


MS. SCOTT:  I just want to say thank you very much to the ERTH people who responded to my questions.  I appreciate it.

MR. WHITE:  Thank you, Ms. Scott.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Apparently we may hear again from Ms. Scott, but in the meantime --


MS. SCOTT:  You may.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  -- let's move on to Ms. Grice, for VECC.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you, Jaime.
Examination by Ms. Grice

MS. GRICE:  Good afternoon, everyone.  I just want to say, off the top, thanks so much for your presentation.  That was very informative, and it will come as no surprise that Jane has covered a lot of my questions.  So I don't expect to be close to my estimate.  And I am sorry if I am going to be sort of all over the place, but I am just -- I will be jumping between questions that haven't been answered.

Just before we start, you had a discussion with Ms. Scott regarding the amount in rent for the affiliates, and you quoted a number of $46,950.  I just wanted to clarify, is that an annual cost?

MR. WHITE:  That's an annual cost.

MR. PETTIT:  Yes, it is.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, great.  Thank you.  Okay.  I just have a couple questions regarding the schedule for this project, and I thought maybe the best place to start is attachment 12 to SEC-1, which is the business case that Utilis prepared.  And, before we begin, I just wanted to ask:  In the listing of documents in SEC-1, it shows this as a draft document; was it updated, this business case, or is this draft the final?


MR. WHITE:  The draft is the final.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  If we can, go to page 34, please, figure 23.  So this was the schedule at the time of the business case, and I just had a question about how this schedule was prepared.  Did the contractor who was awarded the contract, did they provide input to this schedule based on their bid?

MR. WHITE:  That was detailed for the bidder's respondents, to understand the timelines required, so that was done by POW Engineering.  The successful proponent, Bronnenco Construction, actually maintains a more detailed Gantt chart in terms of the construction component schedules, and they're updating that regularly.  I believe they're updating it monthly.  And we attend biweekly site meetings, myself and Josh Smith, one of our engineers, and Eustacia Young, my assistant, to understand the progress that's going on and whether there are any issues or not.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then -- so when that contractor, Bronnenco, provided their bid, did they provide a total number of days for their schedule?  Like, is that something that you could share with us?

MR. WHITE:  We do have a detailed Gantt chart, yes, we do.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  If you could provide that, that would be great.

MR. WHITE:  Yes, absolutely.  I think on record we have got the December one, so we'll look for a more recent one.

MS. GRICE:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.11.
UNDERTAKING JT1.11:  TO FILE BRONNENCO’S MOST RECENT CONSTRUCTION SCHEDULE/GANTT CHART.


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then, just at the bottom of this figure, 23, it shows that you've got construction deficiencies September 15th to October 16th.  Can you just explain what that means?

MR. WHITE:  Sorry, could I have you repeat the question?

MS. GRICE:  Sure.  So, just in this figure, at the very bottom, it shows construction deficiencies September 15th to October 16th, and I'm assuming that's 2025.  I was just trying to understand what it is that that is intended to indicate on the drawing.

MR. WHITE:  Right.  That's intended for minor touch-ups, final detail things, so we come in under occupancy and, you know, there are paint touch-ups, still sort of minor details.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  No, I understand.  It's just sort of like the finishing touches?

MR. WHITE:  Absolutely.  Yes, I will note that this Gantt chart that you're referring to is slightly -- I think it's a slightly outdated one because it does push into November now, this particular one.  And the contractor, Bronnenco, aligns up with that.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  There was another project schedule provided in SEC-2, as attachment 2 to the interrogatory responses.  Can we just quickly go to that.  So that is SEC-2, attachment 2.

MR. WHITE:  That's the more updated one.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And that has December 31st as the completion date for the project?

MR. WHITE:  The project completion is actually the November 24th.  We'll have occupancy in and around that date, and the deficiency period is basically from there until the end of -- mid-December.

MS. GRICE:  Oh, okay.  Okay, thank you.  Now, it says -- you've got a logo here, POW Peterman Consulting Engineers.

MR. WHITE:  Correct.

MS. GRICE:  And I saw somewhere in the evidence referring to POW Engineering.  Are they two different firms, or is that the same firm?

MR. WHITE:  It is the same firm.  The POW is an error on our part in the report.  It is actually POW Peterman Engineering.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, that's great.  Thank you.  Okay.  I have got some questions now on VECC's interrogatory.  So the first one is VECC-2A.  Just in the response to part (a) where you provide the square footage of each facility and when you talk about the new facility, you talk about a higher square footage because it's floor space across all storeys.  So just -- I just wanted to compare that to your existing facilities and just confirm with you that the square footage of your facilities in this table also includes floor space across all storeys.  Is that correct?

MR. WHITE:  Let me just review this here.  This is illustrating square footage of our current Bell Street facility, the Aylmer facility on Elm Street, and the Goderich facility.  This is nothing to do with the square footage of the new build.

MS. GRICE:  Right.  But the way that you characterize the new build is that it's 50,624 square feet of floor space across two storeys?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, sorry.  That characterization, I think it was corrected to 57,000 square feet --


MS. GRICE:  Right.

MR. WHITE:  -- in our initial opening comments.  What that means is the office and admin section of the building makes up approximately 30,000 square feet of that total 57, and that area is a two-storey area.  The rest of the facility is just, you know, your fleet storage, your operations area, your warehousing.  There are no two storeys in that remaining area of the facility.

MR. OTT:  Ms. Grice, is your question whether any of the existing facilities are two-storey facilities?

MS. GRICE:  Yes, if the square footage is including all storeys.  And I assume that would include basements, so I just want to make sure that we have an apples-to-apples comparison.

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.  Yes, it does include all storeys.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, that's great.  Thank you.  VECC-8, please.  Okay.  You say in response to part (a), if you can just go down a little bit, that you engaged a real estate firm to identify all available properties for the new facility.  Are you able to tell me when you undertook that review?

MR. WHITE:  Oh gosh, back in 2023.  I don't have the exact date, no.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then, if you look at the response, you've got a chart there with all of the properties that you looked at, so, if we can go to the next page, okay, I just want to pause at Oxford West Industrial Park.  It says here, in the assessment summary, that there were no tangible benefits to this location over the location that you selected at 385 Thomas Street and that the costs are estimated to be the same as the preferred location.  So I just had a couple of questions on that.

Was the proposal to utilize Oxford West Industrial Park, would that have involved a new build, as well?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, it would have.  That's greenfield space.  It's currently under development and being serviced.  It's within our municipality, the Town of Ingersoll, but it's outside of our service territory.  That's why there is the reference to Hydro One there.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Thank you.  Do you have land size of that location in terms of acres?

MR. WHITE:  I'm not sure whether we have anything on file, whether there is -- I'm not sure that we do.  It's still under development, and I know there is -- the only reason I know a little bit about the land is that we were entertaining a service area amendment which didn't go anywhere, but -- so we do know that it's going to be parcelled out, but I'm not sure what the square footage of parcels are at this point in time.  It's still early days of that land development.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So, is that -- so can you just talk a little bit about then why it wasn't selected?  I think I gather a bit from what you said.  But was it more to do with it being outside of the preferred area or the fact that it just wasn't ready?

MR. WHITE:  Primarily it's not ready and it's certainly outside of our preferred area.  And we're anticipating it, much like the other space, land pricing to be the same.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  And if we can go to page 3 of this response.  There is the next one which is 100 Newman.  That was your option number 2 and that is the one you cost out against the status quo and then the new facility.  I've got that right, do I?  I'm hoping.

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  So we talked this morning first thing about the square footage that it's not 233,000, it's actually 120,000.  So when you did the analysis of this property -- and I'm just going to quickly look at my notes of what you said this morning too, was that at that location you're going to have to share it with subtenants.

So when you calculated the leasing costs for that facility, did you base it on the 120,000 square feet or did you do it, like, at a lesser amount to account for the sharing of subtenants?  I just wanted to understand what was put into the options analysis.

MR. OTT:  Can we just have a moment to focus, Ms. Grice?  Thank you.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. OTT:  Thank you for your patience, Ms. Grice.  We were just conferring to make sure we understood the circumstance and what we've concluded amongst us here would -- what I think -- and that came out this morning to some extent is this 233,619 square feet listed on page 3 of VECC-8 is in error, and as such, the $2.8 million a year in rent calculated at $12 a square foot is also in error.

So the benchmarking completed -- excuse me, the options analysis completed that looked at this building used the correct 120,000 square foot value at $12 a square foot, which yielded rent of approximately $1.4 million.

And I would leave it to Mr. White to provide kind of further context around it, but our understanding is, you know -- he expressed the -- some of the largest reservations about that property was really the outdoor space.  And the utility's ability to store the components it needs to store and still have manoeuvrability of trucks.  And I think that really comes into this being a suboptimal outcome, in that practically speaking there are safety and operational concerns to having another tenant with you there, even though in all practicality, 120,000 square feet is much more than ERTH Power actually needs.

So the options analysis assumes 120,000 not because -- and thus $1.4 million in rent -- not because that's the exact space ERTH Power needs, but because in that building the only technically viable lease option for ERTH Power.  They would have to take the whole building because of the operational concerns, safety concerns, that would come along with sharing the outdoor space, in particular, with another tenant.

Mr. White, if you would like to add anything to that, I would certainly welcome any context.

MR. WHITE:  Sure.  Thank you, Mr. Ott.  Yeah, to further on that, this building is really essentially just a shell.  It's a giant warehouse space.  You see all kinds of them along the 401 corridor.  That's what this facility is.  It really has no office components to it, washroom facility.  It has got a little kitchenette that, you know, you might see in a cottage bunkie, quite frankly.  There is just not any facilities inside.  So, it would have to be all completely repurposed.  That $9 million that we estimated as the capital contribution to repurpose that is probably understated, given, you know, given our lessons going through this process.  But certainly that's a figure that's been used.

We would have to -- I just don't -- that building could not be repurposed to a building that is suited for the utility needs.  You would have to store your poles almost literally inside the whole facility.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  So, I take it from that, then, the idea of subletting it is something that wouldn't work because of the type of operation you are running?

MR. WHITE:  Exactly.  Like, you would have to move any of the outdoor components inside, and then now you're trying to manoeuvre large utility vehicles amongst other tenants in terms of the way the traffic flows around the building and the public parking spaces.  I say "public parking," but I'm intending that to mean staff parking spaces, whether it's ERTH staff or other tenant staff parking.  That just creates too many hazards.  It's just not a viable option, period.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  Can we go now to -- this is attachment 3 in SEC-1 and it's a decision item from the board of directors meeting Feb 16, 2003.  Oh, gosh, I'm sorry.  It's on the screen and I wasn't recognizing it.  My apologies.  Okay.  Just in the first paragraph there it says:
"It is anticipated that ERTH Power's head office and operations centre (the "LDC Hub") located at 143 Bell Street, Ingersoll will be insufficient to meet the needs of a modern and growing utility within the next 5-10 years.  In response, ERTH has been exploring potential acquisitions of land for a new LDC Hub."

So, I just want to ask a question regarding sort of the laneway it appeared that ERTH Power had with respect to addressing the challenges that you covered off in your presentation.  You say here that you needed -- you -- it was insufficient to meet the needs within the next 5-10 years.  So, I'm just wondering why the whole notion of, you know, buying land, constructing a building, wasn't pushed off to future years?  Like, it seems that was something that could have been done and maybe could have been part of the options analysis in terms of sort of a wait-and-see, 2-to-3-year review again idea.  So I just wanted to better understand that.


MR. WHITE:  Sorry, I was muted.  5 to 10 years is really just a figure/number that's saying, you know, growth is happening.  But the real issue is the needs of the current facility today.  And then, coupled with the fact that Ingersoll and our surrounding areas were -- obviously, were in the catchment area of the new Volkswagen plant, we're seeing limited ability to find property that would accommodate our space.  So that, you know, weighed in a little bit to the decision, but the primary decision was the fact that the Bell Street facility is end of life and creating a significant risk for us.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Can we go to VECC-10(a), please.  Just looking at the end of the response to part (a) it says:
"The following excerpt from the Pow Engineering proposal details the reduced pricing:" --

But there is nothing there.  I just wondered if ERTH Power could provide that by way of undertaking?

MR. WHITE:  I think we can, but it would have to be under confidentiality matters, just because of the nature of the contract.  Am I saying that right?

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So you are prepared to give the undertaking, but you -- are you saying now that you want to provide it, in confidence?

MR. VELLONE:  We'll take care of the confidentiality claim as part of the undertaking filing, Mr. Sidlofsky.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.

MR. VELLONE:  I will make it make sure.  Yeah.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay, thanks.  So I am going to give it a regular undertaking number, assuming you are giving the undertaking.  That will be JT1.12.  And, Mr. Vellone, you will be dealing with confidentiality in the response.

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thank you.
UNDERTAKING JT1.12:  TO PROVIDE DETAIL ON REDUCED PRICING (FILED CONFIDENTIALLY, AS REQUIRED)


MS. GRICE:  Okay.  And then I am just looking at part B of VECC-10.  And you talk here about the consideration of a precast design.  And you had a lot of discussion this morning with Ms. Scott about whether or not you looked at different design options before you went ahead with Pow Engineering and the architect.

And so I had just a basic, high-level question of did you consider the notion of a design-build RFP based on the specifications you had for the property, whereby you would receive bids from organizations that would design the building and also build the building?  Was that ever considered?

MR. WHITE:  It was a conversation that we had with Nelson Dawley.  And in a facility as unique as one for a utility business and the fact that it encompasses office, warehousing and fleet all in one kind of footprint, it was not a preferred option.  It typically ends up into being a higher-cost option because, in those bid processes, they don't understand the full scope.

So we felt it was more prudent to work with a consulting engineer/architect firm and provide them with the more intricacy details required for such a facility.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, thank you.  Okay.  I am going to switch over to interrogatories now, from SEC.  And I am going to start off with 2 SEC E, and we talked about this a bit this morning, about the $750,000 contingency and the $3.34 million additional cash allowance.

So just based on the progress of the project to date, does ERTH Power anticipate using those amounts?  Or are things going -- is your forecast that things are going quite well and there may be savings there?

MR. WHITE:  Things are going very well.  You know, I don't want to speculate, overpromise or what -- you know, my gut feeling is that it could come in under budget.

MR. OTT:  If I can quickly add, Ms. Grice, one of the benefits of the ICM construct as well is the true-up function.  So, to the degree the actuals end up different than are anticipated and ultimately built into rates for the purpose of the ICM riders, that will get captured in a series of 1508 subaccounts for true up at next rebasing.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  SEC-4 (b), please.

So in the response there, under (b), just -- I think it's on page 1.  There we go.  It says:
"The leasehold improvements are the responsibility of the tenant, ERTH Power."

And this obviously is not my area of expertise, but I just -- I wondered if, because ERTH Corp. owns the building, why wouldn't that be a shared responsibility?  I just didn't understand why that would all fall on ERTH Power.

MR. PETTIT:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  Just in our experience recently with other facilities and other leases, this is, in fact, the norm.  Any other leasehold improvements or changes you are making to the building are the responsibility of the tenant.  So that was the approach that ERTH had taken historically.  They did get approved in prior cost-of-service rate applications, some of our leasehold improvements, and those, like I said earlier today, will be written off in 2024 and 2025 and not borne by the customer.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  Thank you.  Let me see here.  SEC-5, please, part (b).  Okay.  And this says that:
"ERTH Power is developing its rental services agreement with ERTH Corp."

And we talked this morning about ERTH Corp. having eight FTEs and ERTH Holdings having eight FTEs.  And is the idea that you, that ERTH Power will be preparing rental service agreements for each of those entities?  Or just one?

MR. PETTIT:  And I will turn this over to Mr. Kent.

MR. KENT:  Yeah.  I am just thinking out loud here.  Originally, I had anticipated it as being just one, and then those costs would be allocated internally on the Corp. side.  So I think, for simplicity, it makes sense just to have one agreement.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  Okay, thank you.  And then I just have a clarification on the discussion that we had this morning about the update that you provided with respect to the costs that need to be deducted to get the costs of the project under a conventional heating scenario.  And if we can just please turn to the application at page 20?  Thank you.  And it says there, under 3.3.1, "New facility financial summary", that:
"The full cost of the building construction includes finishes ..."

And it's forecast to be $27.2 million, which includes $1.5 million for solar and $4.2 million to install a ground-source heat pump system in lieu of conventional heating and cooling.

So, today we talked about removing the $1.5 million for the solar and then $0.3 million for the heat pump, for a total of $1.8 million.

But I guess my most basic question is what is the total cost of the geothermal system for the project?  Is it $4.2 million, or is it something else?

MR. WHITE:  The incremental cost for the geo-field system, we have concluded, is essentially $300,000.  Now, the geo-field itself was tendered out at $410,000, but the proposed system is -- the proposed heat-exchange system with the geo-field is in totality a similar cost to a conventional heating system.

And where we get the further reduction -- so it's net neutral, with the exception of the geo-field being added in.  With the geo-field at $410,000, there is a further reduction because, if you don't have the geo-field, essentially the system itself has to work harder.  And given that, it actually has to be sized larger.  So the equipment costs become more money, the structural costs become more money, which further reduces that $410,000 to an estimate of $300,000.

So the incremental costs for a heating system with the geo-field is actually $300,000.

MS. GRICE:  Okay.  I understand that, but I guess what I'm looking for is what is the base cost?  What is it incremental to?

MR. WHITE:  I would say the incremental cost is that $4 million -- or, sorry, that base cost is $4 million.  That's in the mechanical.

MS. GRICE:  $4.2 million?

MR. WHITE:  Yes.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.

MR. WHITE:  It's embedded in the mechanical and electrical systems there, the $11 million [sic] that you see down in the chart, table 2.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, that's great.  Okay, thank you.  And then I just think I have a couple left.  Oh, and Jane has done one of them already.  I'm down -- I just have one more question.  STAFF-15, we can just go down it.  There is a table at the bottom of this interrogatory.  I hope there is.  There it is, okay.  Where it says "F&E," I assume that's "furniture and equipment," TBD of $872,000.  Can you just -- I'm sorry if you've already spoken to this, but can you just let me know, tell me what that is and if that is the latest figure for that or if that number has been updated?

MR. WHITE:  That's the latest figure for that.  We have not got any final pricing on that yet.  We're still working on furniture layouts as we speak.

MS. GRICE:  Okay, okay.  I thought that's what you said, but I just wanted to double check.  Thank you very much for your time, and those are my questions.

MR. WHITE:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Ms. Grice.  We are going to move on now to OEB Staff questions.  And we will begin with Margaret DeFazio, please.
Examination by Ms. DeFazio

MS. DEFAZIO:  Hello.  I'm Margaret DeFazio with OEB Staff.  I would like to look at IR STAFF-5A, part (ii), and we were looking at some information about the Goderich facility.  So, if we go down to the answers for part (a) -- thank you -- here, it's talking about the rent being comprised of amortization and interests, so this is lease accounting.  When does the lease end for this facility?

MR. WHITE:  The lease, I believe, was a 10-year lease that we entered into as part of the agreement of the mergers agreement with West Coast Huron Energy and ERTH back in the day, so 2028/2029-ish.

MS. DEFAZIO:  Okay, and what was the property used for prior to the amalgamation?

MR. WHITE:  That property, that property was acquired by the Town of Goderich after the tornado.  If you recall, there was -- Goderich experienced a significant tornado back in, oh gosh, 2011-ish, maybe prior to that.  I apologize for that.  But, in that tornado, it totally wiped out their facility in Goderich, so the Town of Goderich acquired a new -- that facility.  Sorry, it wasn't new.  And I believe it was a Volvo plant, so they used to assemble graders, road graders.  Volvo was a big manufacturer up in the town at the time, but they left for whatever reasons, and the Town of Goderich was able to secure that facility, and it was leveraged for the utility, and it is also leased out to Veolia, who is a third-party water service provider to their community and surrounding area.

MS. DEFAZIO:  So, before amalgamation, were there power line maintainers based out of that facility?

MR. WHITE:  Yes, there was, for a couple of years.  So that was acquired right after the tornado, up until current day.

MS. DEFAZIO:  Okay.  Did they have office staff there, as well, or was it mostly like it is now, with operations staff?


MR. WHITE:  Mostly operational staff.  The office and staff were housed in the Town of Goderich, in their admin building, customer service and billing.

MS. DEFAZIO:  Okay, thank you, so they used that.  Okay.  So, if we go now to STAFF-13A -- sorry, just -- I messed that up here, missed one little point.  We forwarded you the copy of the decision, and I don't need to pull it up.  I'll just read one sentence out of it, and it says:
"The Applicants propose to defer for re-basing for a period of nine years, at which time the current cost of the separate entities will continue to be the basis for the respective rates paid by the current customers in the two utilities."

So, when I read that, it makes me think that the Goderich facility, how it was used prior to amalgamation is in the Goderich rate zone and the ERTH facilities.  The other ERTH facilities outside of the Goderich rate zone are in the rate base for the main rate zone.  Is my understanding correct?

MR. OTT:  Ms. DeFazio, would you mind to give us a page reference in the decision so that we can take a look with you here?

MS. DEFAZIO:  Pardon me?

MR. OTT:  Would you mind to give us a page reference in the decision that you forwarded --

MS. DEFAZIO:  Decision, sure, 13.

MR. OTT:  Thank you very much.  Just a moment for us to take a look on this side.

MS. DEFAZIO:  And it's the second paragraph under the "Findings" heading, just that first sentence, "The Applicants have proposed to defer re-basing for a period of nine years," and the facilities in each area are embedded in the rates in those two rate zones.  So the Goderich facility costs would be in the rates for the Goderich rate zone, and the Ingersoll and Aylmer facilities would be in the rate base -- I think you had something in Mitchell for a while, too -- would be in the rates for the main rate zone.

MR. OTT:  Ms. DeFazio, I think we would like to caucus for a moment if that's all right with you.

MS. DEFAZIO:  Sure.

MR. OTT:  But, before we do, would you mind to just -- there is a lot of background here, and I appreciate you being patient with us in reading the decision.

MS. DEFAZIO:  Yes, thank you.

MR. OTT:  Would you just restate your question at the end of all of this so that we have a clear view it going into a discussion on our end.

MS. DEFAZIO:  I'm just looking at what costs are in each rate zone.  So, prior to the amalgamation, this Goderich facility was used as it is now, kind of an operations centre with PLMs reporting out of it, and the costs for that are embedded in the Goderich rate zone rates.  And the costs of the other two facilities or however many facilities were in the main rate zone are embedded into the costs of their rates.  I would just like to confirm that.

MR. OTT:  I understand.  Thank you, Ms. DeFazio.  We'll be back with you shortly.

[Witness panel confer]

MR. PETTIT:  Thank you, Ms. DeFazio.  So, I guess in our response I would say that the basis of their rates does continue to be the basis of their rates is they do stay in place.  In terms of the facility, we did have rent that the utility was paying that was embedded in rates that was for the town offices that Mr. White spoke to.  There is lots of savings in terms of the operations, in terms of a general manager, customer service staff and things like that, that were repatriated actually back to Ingersoll and don't actually reside in the town offices anymore.  So, in essence, it is still the basis of their rates, but the operation has changed such that they -- the operation is truly in Ingersoll.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay, thank you.  Could we go now to Staff-13, please.  It's 13(a), and to the answer.  And your proposal is to proportion the costs of the new facility between the two rate zones based on the capital spent in each rate zone.  I was just wondering, the staff that worked out of the Goderich rate zone, the PLMs, where do they do their -- I guess their work, is it mostly within the Goderich rate zone?  I guess do you have people between the facilities that work between the rate zones or are they mostly within their rate zones, the field staff?

MR. PETTIT:  They aren't actually in their rate zones.  The staff in Goderich do work in Clinton, which is not the former utility of West Coast Huron Energy and Mitchell and Dublin and in some cases will come further south to Tavistock and even Ingersoll from time to time as need be, but those staff do not just perform their work in the town of Goderich.  And I guess I would also note that ERTH -- our data have prior to merger staff in the Mitchell office, many of those staff moved up Highway 8 to Goderich.

MS. DeFAZIO: Okay, thank you.  Could we please go now to VECC-2(a) and down to the answer.  Okay.  So, in this table -- I'm sorry, I'm still confused about the staff numbers.  I know Ms. Scott and Ms. Grice talked about this earlier.  Here we have 38 staff at Bell Street and three staff at Aylmer, showing as what you have right now.  And then if we go to Staff-10(a), to the response, so here we have 38 ERTH staff.  I'm just wondering about the three Aylmer staff.  Is there a discrepancy here about where those three Aylmer staff are?  I thought they were moving to the ERTH main office when it was constructed as well?

MR. WHITE:  That's the plan.

MS. DeFAZIO:  So, then they would -- that number would then be 41?

MR. PETTIT:  They've already been included in the 38.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay.  So, then the answer in VECC-2 would show that there's currently 35 staff at Bell?

MR. OTT:  Maybe, Ms. DeFazio, just to make sure that this is cleared up for you, we can -- I think it will be quick, but maybe we can talk amongst ourselves for just a moment to make sure we get you the right information.  Is that all right?

MS. DeFAZIO:  Yeah, yeah, yeah, absolutely.  I was just -- wanted to make sure we had the right numbers.

MR. OTT:  Yeah, us as well.  Just a second.

[Witness panel confer]


MR. PETTIT:  Thank you, Ms. DeFazio.  So, yes, you are correct.  In VECC-2 that number should be 35 for Ingersoll.  We did combine the two to be 38 there.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay, thank you.  I would like to look at some of the benchmarking info.  Could we please go to IR SEC-12.  And then down to page 7, please, there is a chart there.  Okay.  So, we clarified some of the information in this chart this morning.  I just would like to clarify a little bit more.  So, as we discussed, ERTH will maintain use of the Goderich office and half of the Aylmer site when the new facility is constructed.  And the values in this table are for the new facility only; is that correct?

MR. OTT:  That's correct.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay.  Did you -- were you able to ascertain if the other four LDCs had satellite offices as well in their operations after they constructed their new facilities?

MR. OTT:  The purpose of our work in this benchmarking was really to compare new utility buildings, not to compare the sort of operating structures of those utilities.  So none of our analysis addresses whether these utilities do or don't have other offices.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay.  Could we just then go down to -- just go down a couple of pages and it's figure 8 and 9 there at the bar charts -- oh, I'm sorry.

MR. OTT:  In the evidence potentially?

MS. DeFAZIO:  Sorry, yes, the evidence figure 8 and 9.  And that would be below page 29.  So here, you are comparing the amount of office space or storage space or operational space per utility.  This would then just be of their main office, not of their total fleet of space or complement of space.  Correct?

MR. OTT:  That's correct.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay.

MR. OTT:  Or I shouldn't say that -- I believe in all instances we are talking about main offices, but I don't want to make that definitive.  It is comparing the individual buildings that we were analyzing for each of these utilities.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Right.  So if we would like to know the amount of -- if we go down to figure 12, we have -- we are comparing facility space relative to customer count.  This is just the facility space of the main office then, not the total facility space that the LDC has and operates?

MR. OTT:  That's correct.  And we are looking at the individual buildings versus the total customer count for each of these utilities.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay, thank you.  And if we go to Staff-6, please, the IR.  So here, we are talking about the OM&A in the ICM application.  Was ERTH able to identify any other ICMs or ACMs where the OEB has approved increased or decreased OM&A as part of the application, an ICM or ACM application?

MR. PETTIT:  No, I don't believe so.

MS. DeFAZIO:  Okay.  Thank you.  That's all my questions.  Thanks, very much, panel.

MR. OTT:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Ms. DeFazio.  We'll move on now to -- sorry, Urooj Iqbal, please.

MS. SCOTT:  Jamie, before we leave, maybe the ICM -- are we leaving the ICM, or are they -- I just had a couple of follows.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  If you want to jump in with some questions, that's fine, Jane.
Examination by Ms. Scott (cont’d.)


MS. SCOTT:  If OEB Staff is okay with that.

It was just the conversation we had about the calculation of the market rate for the affiliates for the new facilities, and the statement was made that fully allocates -- fully covers the allocated costs.  Could we have an undertaking to see the calculation for that?

MR. PETTIT:  Yes, we could provide that.

MS. SCOTT:  Thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  That will be JT1.13.
UNDERTAKING JT1.13:  TO PROVIDE A CALCULATION OF THE MARKET RATE FOR THE AFFILIATES FOR THE NEW FACILITIES

MS. SCOTT:  And just going back to this Staff-10 and the FTEs.  Staff-10B that talks about the 57 and the -- I think the wording is it has a capacity of 57 indoor and 10 outside staff.  Where did that come from, I guess is my first question.

MR. PETTIT:  So, Ms. Scott, that was essentially an estimate of -- well, offices are known, and an estimate of how we can accommodate cubicles.  So, realistically speaking, comfortably -- so yeah, 57 is comprised of 22 offices and 28 -- or, yes, 22 offices and 25 cubicles -- 22 offices.

MS. SCOTT:  But you said previously that you really only have one vacant office and five cubicles, where there are 38 plus eight plus --


MR. PETTIT:  Yeah.

MS. SCOTT:  No -- 28, plus eight, plus eight.  I am still just trying to figure how much room for expansion does ERTH Power have in this, when this building is built?

MR. PETTIT:  So we have 50 as it sits today in terms of available spaces.  We have the potential to add seven to get to 57 places for office people to land.

I think part of the confusion comes in when you have outside staff listed as outside staff and inside staff listed as inside staff.  Several outside staff do actually need their own touch-down spaces to do their job, the line foremen personnel.  So there are a lot of staff that require both facilities.

So it got a -- I will be honest, it got a little complicated in terms of where bodies are landing and how things are all fleshing out.

So, at the end of the day, we have room for 50 today.  We can add seven more by getting a little more cramped and using some of that free space.  And then, beyond that, it's whatever the addition would house.  But that's down the road.

MR. OTT:  Sorry, Mr. Pettit --


MS. SCOTT:  I'm sorry, what is the 50?  Going back to part (a) of that question, I thought we were at 38, plus eight, plus eight -- at 54 bodies in the new building.

MR. WHITE:  I can jump in here.

MR. PETTIT:  Okay.

MR. WHITE:  The space is designed for 50, okay?  And that's 50 comfortably, okay?  You get the 28, plus your two additional -- these are inside staff counts that I'm talking about, not the 10 outside -- plus the 16 affiliated staff, eight and eight, gives you 46.  That gives us one extra office, and it gives us three or four extra cubicles, currently.  Okay?

If you reconfigure -- these cubicles all sit in open spaces.  So what you can do to accommodate more cubicles is you can -- in the future, you could downsize those cubicles and reconfigure them a bit, which could give us added space if needed, but it gets less comfortable.  But that's how you get to the additional bums in seats.

MS. SCOTT:  And then the next step would be to no longer rent to affiliates?  If ERTH Power needed more space, the next step would be -- is that correct?

MR. WHITE:  That could be an option.  And again, Ms. Scott, the other option could potentially be that 4,200 square foot addition, right.

MS. SCOTT:  Well, that was my -- yeah.

MR. WHITE:  Right?

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And then you would --


MR. WHITE:  You would have to weigh out that, the pros and cons, I guess, at that point in time and where the whole organization is at, I guess.

MS. SCOTT:  So is it safe to say for all intents and purposes, what you're building now is for what you're -- you've got now.  If this five to 10 years, when we maybe take on somebody else or electrification happens, something else would have to change, whether it be building more space or kicking out the affiliate or something like that?

MR. WHITE:  Yeah.  Something, I guess, dramatically would have to change for us to have to kick out the affiliate or build the addition.  I think we could be creative with the workstations, the cubicles, so to speak, or reconstruct them, reconfigure them to get more people into the space if that were to occur.

MS. SCOTT:  And I hate to be, you know, beating a dead horse, but -- and is that the 57 then, is sort of that is the max?  We are filled to the  --


MR. WHITE:  That would get you to the 57, before kicking -- before adding an addition, yes.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  So the 57 is sort of the ultimate
-- cram in people.  Okay.

MR. WHITE:  Correct.

MS. SCOTT:  And my last question:  Just to confirm that the eight and eight affiliate staff are currently at Bell Street; is that correct?

MR. WHITE:  No, they are currently not.

MS. SCOTT:  Where are they?

MR. WHITE:  They're in another cramped space.

MS. SCOTT:  Is that the one in London or something?

MR. WHITE:  No, it's at one of our other affiliate offices here, in Ingersoll.

MS. SCOTT:  Okay.  And are they -- no, okay.  They wouldn't be.  Okay, so they're at another affiliate office.  Okay.  Okay, thank you very much.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Ms. Scott.  We will now move back to Board Staff with Urooj Iqbal, please.
Examination by Ms. Iqbal


MS. IQBAL:  Yes, hi.  This is Urooj Iqbal, OEB Staff.  My question is regarding the procurement process for furniture, fixtures, and fittings.  So ERTH Power has mentioned that the total cost for furniture, fixtures, and fittings is $1.7 million, with approximately $872,000 allocated to furniture and equipment.  Is that right?

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.

MS. IQBAL:  And this $872,000, from what I recall with the conversation with Ms. Grice, can change; it has to be discussed, right?

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.

MS. IQBAL:  Okay.  So can we go to STAFF-15 (e), part (ii), page 5.  So that would be page -- that would be part (e)(ii).  So ERTH Power in its response to STAFF-15 has confirmed that a competitive procurement process was performed.  So is this not associated with the 872K?

MR. WHITE:  Sorry.  We have not done a procurement process on the 872K for the furniture.

MS. IQBAL:  Okay, so it's still not started, you're saying, right?

MR. WHITE:  It is started in the design concept phase.  We're still -- it's almost like building the building.  You've got to kind of build the footprint of the office, cubicles, and the furniture, the way they sit into the space, so that's happening --


MS. IQBAL:  Okay.

MR. WHITE:  -- and, once we get that nailed down, then we'll be able to price it out, get it priced out.

MS. IQBAL:  So can you talk to me in detail about what kind of procurement process will you have?  Like do you plan to invite different participants, have a bidding process, and what kind of evaluation criteria will you have, including the scoring methodology?

MR. WHITE:  We haven't established that yet.

MS. IQBAL:  Okay.

MR. WHITE:  We've been working with a design consultant on the actual, again, design and configuration portion of those spaces.

MS. IQBAL:  Okay.  So the takeaway is the 782K [sic] can go up or down; right?

MR. WHITE:  That's correct.  And who knows, it might fall within our contingency allowance, too.

MS. IQBAL:  Right.  Okay.  So I will just move to my next question, so my next question is about the DVA balances on tab 3 of the rate generator model.

MR. VELLONE:  Is it appendix G there, that you see in the bookmarks?  Which tab?

MS. IQBAL:  It's tab 3.

MR. VELLONE:  Thanks.

MS. WATERHOUSE:  And is tab 3 below?

MS. IQBAL:  Yes.

MR. VELLONE:  You have to scroll down through the various tabs, unfortunately.

MS. IQBAL:  So this is tab 2.

MR. VELLONE:  Two, we're almost there.

MS. IQBAL:  And the column would be BW.  So the Staff has observed that the closing balances reported in accounts 1551, 1580, 1584, and 1586 do not align with the closing balances provided in the RRR data.  So, on page 6 of the 2025 IRM application, ERTH Power has attributed these differences to interest calculation corrections and included a table illustrating their adjustments.  So can you please provide further explanation or clarification of the correction calculations?  I mean, you can use account 1588 as an example.

MR. PETTIT:  Okay.  I think, first of all, before I transfer the question over to Ms. Gooding is I would say:  Our RRR filing is combined; we then have to split out the balances between ERTH main and ERTH Goderich, so they're never going to truly align within an IRM model.  But, beyond that, I'll let Ms. Gooding take the rest of that question.

MS. GOODING:  Thank you.  When completing the continuity schedule for the two rate generating models, I noticed there was a calculation in our back-up spreadsheets that we used to determine what the entry should be for the interest calculation and booked the GL.  I found that it hadn't been updated when the interest rates had been updated with the different quarters, so I calculated what it should have been by updating the correct interest rate, and then those are the differences between what we did originally book, calculate for the interest and booked to the GL, and what should have been.

MS. IQBAL:  And this is for both rate zones, Goderich and main rate; right?

MS. GOODING:  That's correct.

MS. IQBAL:  Okay.  Okay.  That's all from me.  Thanks.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Ms. Iqbal.  Over to Dana Wong, please.
Examination by Ms. Wong


MS. WONG:  Good afternoon, panel.  Dana Wong from OEB Staff.  If we can, turn to ERTH's responses to STAFF-16, please.  Thank you.  So, just to jog your memory, Staff's question here was about ERTH's CCA proposal for its ICM request:
"ERTH is electing to take a reduced CCA on the mechanical and energy systems portion of its new facility request."

And then, in response to STAFF-16C, ERTH referenced ELK as another utility that proposed to claim CCA on an actual basis and the exact amount required to yield a zero PILs impact in the OEB's ICM model.  Based on my reading, ELK was in a somewhat unique position for its EB-2023-0133 application because its PILs position was zero.  So my question, my questions are:  Is ERTH currently in a tax position similar to ELK's position, where its PILs are nil?

MR. KENT:  ERTH's PILs are not nil.  Off the top of my head, I believe it was referenced to be around $38,000.  It is very minimal.

MS. WONG:  Okay, thank you.  ERTH's 2028 re-basing, is it forecast to be perhaps in a similar position?

MR. KENT:  I haven't looked at the PILs model for the 2028 cost of service.

MS. WONG:  Okay.  And then what loss carry-forwards, if any, does ERTH have as of 2023?  If you don't know the information off the top of your head, perhaps ERTH would be willing to look at its 2023 tax return and provide it as support.

MR. KENT:  Yeah, we'd have to get that.

MS. WONG:  Okay, thank you.

MR. VELLONE:  Dana, why is that relevant?  Just for -- I'm not debating the question or the undertaking, just trying to understand.

MS. WONG:  So Staff here is trying to assess ERTH's methodology in using the -- a decreased accelerated CCA.  And so, a loss carry forward or any loss carry forwards that it currently have could impact its PILs situation in the re-basing year.  So we're taking that into account with its proposal of using a decreased CCA.

MR. VELLONE:  Thank you for entertaining that.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  So we'll give that an undertaking number JT1.14.
UNDERTAKING JT1.14:  TO PROVIDE DATA FOR 2023 LOSS CARRY-FORWARDS


MS. WONG:  Thank you.  That's all my questions.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Ms. Wong.  There may be another question from Ms. Iqbal, but before we possibly get to that, I'm just going to move on to Farheen Ahmed, please.

MS. AHMED:  Good afternoon, everyone.  I have a question on the GLS work forms.  Can we please pull up response to Staff-18.  So, this IR is about the accrual of the charge type 1142 and I have a similar question on Staff-20 and 21, but they are of the same nature so I'll just combine them together.

So, ERTH indicated the amount which was under current year principal adjustment for either 2021-22 will not be recorded in GL until 2024.  However, if you go to the accounting guidance of past true accounts which was issued in February of 2019, principal adjustments in the current year must be reversed in the following year when the true-up is actually in the distributor's GL.  Even with the accrual accounting, reversals are made at the start of the next period.

So, can you help me understand why the reversal of some of these charges, charge type 1142 and 1148 that originated in either 2021 and 2022 is not being reversed until 2024?

MS. GOODING:  Could I just take a moment to caucus?

[Witness panel confer]

MS. GOODING:  Thank you.  So the reason why that it's not being reversed in the current year is because the original transaction did not get recorded in the GL.  So we wouldn't be able to reverse it in the current application because it was never initially booked to the GL and needs to be corrected.

MS. AHMED:  Okay.  That's all the questions that I had.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Thanks, Ms. Ahmed.  I believe -- I've checked with Ms. Iqbal and there is no follow-up question there, so I believe that Board Staff questions are now complete.  Ms. Scott, you said you might be popping back in with more questions.  I'm going to give you a chance to say yes or no at this point.

MS. SCOTT:  No, I -- those were my two that I popped in earlier, so thank you.  No more.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Given that, I believe we are -- we've concluded now.  Ms. Grice, you don't have anything more, do you?

MS. GRICE:  I do not, thank you.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Thank you very much to the panel, to our reporter, and it is just coming up on 3:00 and we are adjourned.  Thank you very much -- Oh, sorry, just one more thing before we break.  Undertaking responses, Mr. Vellone?
Procedural Matters


MR. VELLONE:  As soon as practical.  Let me circle up with everyone.  I've kind of left them in their cone of silence while they've been giving testimony.  So let me circle up and then I'll let you know.  We'll send a letter by tomorrow that says a deadline.  I expect if it takes longer than a week I'd be shocked, Mr. Sidlofsky.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  That is -- that's great.  Now, at this point under Procedural Order No. 4, the deadline for undertaking responses is February 14th, so it is just over a week now, a week from tomorrow.  So I trust you'll let me know if there is any problem with that?

MR. VELLONE:  Yeah, I'd be shocked to be honest.

MR. SIDLOFSKY:  Okay.  Great.  Thank you once again to everybody, especially the witness panel, for answering all those questions today and we are adjourned.
--- Whereupon the proceeding concluded at 2:57 p.m.
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